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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties.  All statements, other than
statements of historical facts, included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future
revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “potential,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “will,” “should,” “would” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements, although not all forward- looking statements contain these identifying words.

 
The forward-looking statements in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements about:
 

·                  the progress and results of our clinical trials of our drug candidates, including migalastat HCl;
·                  the cost of manufacturing drug supply for our clinical and preclinical studies, including the significant cost of ERT cell line development and

manufacturing as well as the cost of manufacturing the vIGF-2 peptide tag;
·                  the scope, progress, results and costs of preclinical development, laboratory testing and clinical trials for our product candidates including those

testing the use of pharmacological chaperones co-formulated and co-administered with ERT and for the treatment of lysosomal storage diseases;
·                  the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;
·                  the number and development requirements of other product candidates that we pursue;
·                  the costs of commercialization activities, including product marketing, sales and distribution;
·                  the emergence of competing technologies and other adverse market developments;
·                  the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining, enforcing and defending intellectual property related claims;
·                  the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies;
·                  our ability to successfully incorporate Callidus Biopharma, Inc. (“Callidus”) and its product candidates and technology into our business; and
·                  our ability to establish collaborations and obtain milestone, royalty or other payments from any such collaborators.
 
We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance

on our forward-looking statements.  Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-
looking statements we make.  We have included important factors in the cautionary statements included in Part I Item 1A — “Risk Factors” of the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 that we believe could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking



statements that we make.  Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures,
collaborations or investments we may make.

 
You should read this quarterly report on Form 10-Q in conjunction with the documents that we reference herein.  We do not assume any obligation to

update any forward-looking statements.
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PART I.                               FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1.                                      Financial Statements (unaudited)
 

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
  

December 31,
 

March 31,
 

  
2013

 
2014

 

Assets:
     

Current assets:
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 43,640
 

$ 27,533
 

Investments in marketable securities
 

38,360
 

44,121
 

Receivable due from GSK
 

759
 

38
 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
 

5,519
 

1,758
 

Total current assets
 

88,278
 

73,450
 

      
Property and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization of $9,973 and $10,385 at

December 31, 2013 and March 31, 2014, respectively
 

4,120
 

3,748
 

In-process research & development
 

23,000
 

23,000
 

Goodwill
 

11,613
 

11,613
 

Other non-current assets
 

552
 

546
 

Total Assets
 

$ 127,563
 

$ 112,357
 

      
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

     

Current liabilities:
     

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
 

$ 10,162
 

$ 9,167
 

Current portion of secured loan
 

299
 

199
 

Total current liabilities
 

10,461
 

9,366
 

      
Deferred reimbursements

 

36,677
 

36,677
 

Secured loan, less current portion
 

14,174
 

14,216
 

Contingent consideration payable
 

10,600
 

11,105
 

Deferred tax liability
 

9,186
 

9,186
 

Other non-current liability
 

714
 

723
 

      
Commitments and contingencies

     

      
Stockholders’ equity:

     

Common stock, $.01 par value, 125,000,000 shares authorized, 61,975,416 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2013, 125,000,000 shares authorized, 64,340,259 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2014

 

679
 

703
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

423,593
 

424,844
 

Accumulated other comprehensive income
 

1
 

2
 

Deficit accumulated during the development stage
 

(378,522) (394,465)
Total stockholders’ equity

 

45,751
 

31,084
 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
 

$ 127,563
 

$ 112,357
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
      

Period from
 



February 4,
2002

  
Three Months

 
(inception)

 

  
Ended March 31,

 
to March 31,

 

  
2013

 
2014

 
2014

 

Revenue:
       

Research revenue
 

$ —
 

$ 456
 

$ 58,312
 

Collaboration and milestone revenue
 

—
 

—
 

64,382
 

Total revenue
 

—
 

456
 

122,694
 

        
Operating Expenses:

       

Research and development
 

$ 11,989
 

$ 9,992
 

$ 367,829
 

General and administrative
 

4,823
 

5,176
 

156,682
 

Changes in fair value of contingent consideration payable
 

—
 

505
 

505
 

Restructuring charges
 

—
 

(8) 3,502
 

Impairment of leasehold improvements
 

—
 

—
 

1,030
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

439
 

412
 

13,899
 

In-process research and development
 

—
 

—
 

418
 

Total operating expenses
 

17,251
 

16,077
 

543,865
 

Loss from operations
 

(17,251) (15,621) (421,171)
Other income (expenses):

       

Interest income
 

65
 

42
 

14,605
 

Interest expense
 

(10) (355) (2,823)
Change in fair value of warrant liability

 

(262) —
 

2,461
 

Other (expense)/ income
 

—
 

(9) 243
 

Loss before tax benefit
 

(17,458) (15,943) (406,685)
Income tax benefit

 

—
 

—
 

12,220
 

Net loss
 

(17,458) (15,943) (394,465)
Deemed dividend

 

—
 

—
 

(19,424)
Preferred stock accretion

 

—
 

—
 

(802)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

 

$ (17,458) $ (15,943) $ (414,691)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders per common share — basic and diluted

 

$ (0.35) $ (0.25)
  

Weighted-average common shares outstanding — basic and diluted
 

49,621,188
 

64,353,952
   

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited)

(in thousands)
 

      

Period from
February 4,

2002
 

  
Three Months

 
(inception)

 

  
Ended March 31,

 
to March 31,

 

  
2013

 
2014

 
2014

 

        
Net loss

 

$ (17,458) $ (15,943) $ (394,465)
        
Other comprehensive income/(loss):

       

        
Unrealized gain on available-for- sale securities

 

1
 

1
 

2
 

        
Other comprehensive income, before income taxes

 

1
 

1
 

2
 

Provision for income taxes related to other comprehensive income Items (a)
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

        
Other comprehensive income

 

$ 1
 

$ 1
 

$ 2
 

        
Comprehensive loss

 

$ (17,457) $ (15,942) $ (394,463)
 

(a) — Taxes have not been accrued on unrealized gain on securities as the Company is in a loss position for all periods presented.
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited) (in thousands)

 
      

Period from
 

      
February 4, 2002

 

  
Three Months

 
(inception) to

 

  
Ended March 31,

 
March 31,

 

  
2013

 
2014

 
2014

 

Operating activities
       

Net loss
 

$ (17,458) $ (15,943) $ (394,465)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

       

Non-cash interest expense
 

—
 

59
 

584
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

439
 

412
 

13,899
 

Amortization of non-cash compensation
 

—
 

—
 

522
 

Stock-based compensation
 

1,574
 

1,260
 

49,366
 

Non-cash charge for stock based compensation issued to consultants
 

—
 

—
 

853
 

Restructuring charges
 

—
 

(8) 3,502
 

Change in fair value of warrant liability
 

262
 

—
 

(2,461)
Non-cash changes in the fair value of contingent consideration payable

 

—
 

505
 

505
 

Loss on disposal of asset
 

—
 

—
 

388
 

Stock-based license payments
 

—
 

—
 

1,220
 

Impairment of leasehold improvements
 

—
 

—
 

1,030
 

Non-cash charge for in-process research and development
 

—
 

—
 

418
 

Beneficial conversion feature related to bridge financing
 

—
 

—
 

135
 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
       

Receivable due from GSK
 

1,917
 

721
 

(38)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

 

517
 

3,761
 

(1,758)
Other non-current assets

 

—
 

—
 

(466)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

 

(2,418) (987) 5,723
 

Deferred reimbursements
 

1,267
 

—
 

36,677
 

Net cash used in operating activities
 

(13,900) (10,220) (284,366)
Investing activities

       

Sale and redemption of marketable securities
 

34,135
 

11,465
 

850,244
 

Purchases of marketable securities
 

(26,998) (17,227) (894,481)
Purchases of property and equipment

 

(372) (40) (18,948)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

 

6,765
 

(5,802) (63,185)
Financing activities

       

Proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs
 

—
 

—
 

143,022
 

Proceeds from the issuance of common stock and warrants, net of issuance costs
 

—
 

—
 

208,441
 

Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes
 

—
 

—
 

5,000
 

Payments of capital lease obligations
 

—
 

—
 

(5,587)
Payments of secured loan agreement

 

(100) (100) (4,554)
Payments related to deferred financing

 

—
 

—
 

(110)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

 

—
 

15
 

3,356
 

Proceeds from exercise of warrants (common and preferred)
 

—
 

—
 

264
 

Proceeds from capital asset financing arrangement
 

—
 

—
 

5,611
 

Proceeds from secured loan agreement
 

—
 

—
 

19,641
 

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities
 

(100) (85) 375,084
 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
 

(7,235) (16,107) 27,533
 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
 

33,971
 

43,640
 

—
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
 

$ 26,736
 

$ 27,533
 

$ 27,533
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
(Unaudited)

(in thousands)
 
      

Period from
 

      
February 4, 2002

 

  
Three Months

 
(inception) to

 

  
Ended March 31,

 
March 31,

 

  
2013

 
2014

 
2014

 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
       

Cash paid during the period for interest
 

$ 7
 

$ 208
 

$ 2,355
 

Non-cash activities
       

Conversion of warrants to common stock
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 386
 

Conversion of notes payable to Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,000
 

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 148,951
 

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 802
 

Beneficial conversion feature related to the issuance of Series C redeemable convertible
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 19,424
 



preferred stock
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Note 1.   Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
 

Corporate Information, Status of Operations and Management Plans
 
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on February 4, 2002 in Delaware and is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the

discovery, development and commercialization of next-generation medicines for a range of rare and orphan diseases, with a focus on improved therapies for
lysosomal storage diseases (“LSDs”). The Company’s lead program is migalastat HCl (“migalastat”) for Fabry disease.  Migalastat is a novel, small molecule
pharmacological chaperone in development as a monotherapy and in combination with enzyme replacement therapy (“ERT”) for Fabry disease.  The
Company is leveraging its Chaperone-Advanced Replacement Therapy, or CHART™  platform to develop next-generation therapies that combine
pharmacological chaperones with enzyme therapies for Pompe, Mucopolysaccharidosis Type I (“MPS I”) and Gaucher diseases.  Current CHART™
programs for Pompe disease include the pharmacological chaperone AT2220 (duvoglustat HCl) co-administered with currently marketed Pompe ERTs
(Myozyme®/Lumizyme®), as well as AT2220 co-formulated with a proprietary Pompe ERT. The Company’s activities since inception have consisted
principally of raising capital, establishing facilities, and performing research and development. Accordingly, the Company is considered to be in the
development stage.

 
In November 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc. (“Callidus”) through an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the

“Merger Agreement”) between the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, CB Acquisition Corp (“CB”) and Callidus whereby CB merged with and into
Callidus with Callidus becoming the surviving corporation of the merger.  As a result of the merger, Callidus became a wholly owned subsidiary of Amicus. 
Callidus was a privately-held biologics company focused on developing best-in-class enzyme replacement therapies (“ERTs”) for lysosomal storage diseases
(“LSDs”). Callidus lead ERT is a recombinant human acid-alpha glucosidase (rhGAA, called “AT-B200”) for Pompe disease in late preclinical development.

 
For further information, see “— Note 4. Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc.”
 

In November 2013, Amicus entered into the Revised Agreement (the “Revised Agreement”) with GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GSK”), pursuant to which
Amicus has obtained global rights to develop and commercialize migalastat as a monotherapy and in combination with ERT for Fabry disease. The Revised
Agreement amends and replaces in its entirety the Expanded Agreement entered into between Amicus and GSK in July 2012. Under the terms of the Revised
Agreement, there is no upfront payment from Amicus to GSK. For the next-generation Fabry ERT (migalastat co-formulated with ERT), GSK is eligible to
receive single-digit royalties on net sales in eight major markets outside the U.S. For migalastat monotherapy, GSK is eligible to receive post-approval and
sales-based milestones, as well as tiered royalties in the mid-teens in eight major markets outside the U.S.

 
In November 2013, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “2013 SPA”) with GSK and certain entities controlled by Redmile

Group, LLC for the private placement of a combination of shares of the Company’s common stock and warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock.  The warrants have a term of one year and are exercisable between July 1, 2014 and June 30, 2015 at an exercise price of $2.50 per share. 
The aggregate offer proceeds were $15 million and GSK’s resulting equity stake in the Company was 17.6% at March 31, 2014.

 
In September 2013, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Biogen Idec (“Biogen”) to discover, develop and commercialize novel

small molecules for the treatment of Parkinson’s disease. The collaboration will build upon preclinical studies at the Company and independent published
research that suggest increasing activity of the lysosomal enzyme glucocerobrosidase (“GCase”) in the brain may correct alpha-synuclein pathology and other
deficits associated with Parkinson’s disease. Under terms of the multi-year agreement, the Company and Biogen will collaborate in the discovery of a new
class of small molecules that target the GCase enzyme, for further development and commercialization by Biogen. Biogen will be responsible for funding all
discovery, development, and commercialization activities. In addition the Company will be reimbursed for all full-time employees working on the project.
The Company is also eligible to receive development and regulatory milestones, as well as modest royalties on global net sales.

 
For further information, see “— Note 10. Collaborative Agreements.”
 

The Company had an accumulated deficit of approximately $394.5 million at March 31, 2014 and anticipates incurring losses through the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2014 and beyond. The Company has not yet generated commercial sales revenue and has been able to fund its operating losses to date
through the sale of its redeemable convertible preferred stock, issuance of convertible notes, net proceeds from its initial public offering (“IPO”) and
subsequent stock offerings, payments from partners during the terms of the collaboration agreements and other financing arrangements. In March 2010, the
Company sold
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4.95 million shares of its common stock and also sold warrants to purchase 1.9 million shares of common stock in a registered direct offering to a select group
of institutional investors for net proceeds of $17.1 million. In October 2010, the Company sold 6.87 million shares of its common stock as part of the
collaboration agreement, dated October 28, 2010, by and between the Company and GSK (the “Original Collaboration Agreement”) for proceeds of
$31.0 million. In March 2012, the Company sold 11.5 million shares of its common stock in a stock offering for net proceeds of $62.0 million. In July 2012,
the Company sold 2.9 million shares of its common stock as part of an expanded collaboration agreement, entered into in July 2012, by and between the
Company and GSK (the “Expanded Collaboration Agreement”) for proceeds of $18.6 million. In November 2013, the Company sold 7.5 million shares of its
common stock and also sold warrants to purchase 1.6 million shares of its common stock in a private placement for proceeds of $15 million. In March 2014,
the Company entered into a sales agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC (the “Sales Agreement”) to create an at-the-market equity program under which
the Company from time to time may offer and sell shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $40
million through Cowen as sales agent. The Company believes that its existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to cover
its cash flow requirements into the second half of 2015.



 
Basis of Presentation
 
The Company has prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10-01 of Regulations S-
X.  Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial
statements.  In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited financial statements reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring
adjustments, necessary to present fairly the Company’s interim financial information.

 
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements

and related notes as contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.  For a complete description of the
Company’s accounting policies, please refer to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.

 
Revenue Recognition
 
The Company recognizes revenue when amounts are realized or realizable and earned. Revenue is considered realizable and earned when the following

criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the price is fixed or
determinable; and (4) collection of the amounts due are reasonably assured.

 
In multiple element arrangements, revenue is allocated to each separate unit of accounting and each deliverable in an arrangement is evaluated to

determine whether it represents separate units of accounting. A deliverable constitutes a separate unit of accounting when it has standalone value and there is
no general right of return for the delivered elements. In instances when the aforementioned criteria are not met, the deliverable is combined with the
undelivered elements and the allocation of the arrangement consideration and revenue recognition is determined for the combined unit as a single unit of
accounting. Allocation of the consideration is determined at arrangement inception on the basis of each unit’s relative selling price. In instances where there is
determined to be a single unit of accounting, the total consideration is applied as revenue for the single unit of accounting and is recognized over the period of
inception through the date where the last deliverable within the single unit of accounting is expected to be delivered.

 
The Company’s current revenue recognition policies, which were applied in fiscal 2010, provide that, when a collaboration arrangement contains

multiple deliverables, such as license and research and development services, the Company allocates revenue to each separate unit of accounting based on a
selling price hierarchy. The selling price hierarchy for a deliverable is based on (i) its vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) if available, (ii) third party
evidence (TPE) if VSOE is not available, or (iii) best estimated selling price (BESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. The Company would establish the
VSOE of selling price using the price charged for a deliverable when sold separately. The TPE of selling price would be established by evaluating largely
similar and interchangeable competitor products or services in standalone sales to similarly situated customers. The BESP would be established considering
internal factors such as an internal pricing analysis or an income approach using a discounted cash flow model.
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The Company also considers the impact of potential future payments it makes in its role as a vendor to its customers and evaluates if these potential

future payments could be a reduction of revenue from that customer. If the potential future payments to the customer are:
 

·          a payment for an identifiable benefit; and
 
·          the identifiable benefit is separable from the existing relationship between the Company and its customer; and
 
·          the identifiable benefit can be obtained from a party other than the customer; and
 
·          the Company can reasonably estimate the fair value of the identifiable benefit,
 

then the payments are accounted for separate from the revenue received from that customer. If, however, all these criteria are not satisfied, then the payments
are treated as a reduction of revenue from that customer.
 

If the Company determines that any potential future payments to its customers are to be considered as a reduction of revenue, it must evaluate if the total
amount of revenue to be received under the arrangement is fixed and determinable. If the total amount of revenue is not fixed and determinable due to the
uncertain nature of the potential future payments to the customer, then any customer payments cannot be recognized as revenue until the total arrangement
consideration becomes fixed and determinable.

 
The reimbursements for research and development costs under collaboration agreements that meet the criteria for revenue recognition are included in

Research Revenue and the costs associated with these reimbursable amounts are included in research and development expenses.
 
In order to determine the revenue recognition for contingent milestones, the Company evaluates the contingent milestones using the criteria as provided

by the Financial Accounting Standards Boards (“FASB”) guidance on the milestone method of revenue recognition at the inception of a collaboration
agreement. The criteria requires that (i) the Company determines if the milestone is commensurate with either its performance to achieve the milestone or the
enhancement of value resulting from the Company’s activities to achieve the milestone, (ii) the milestone be related to past performance, and (iii) the
milestone be reasonable relative to all deliverable and payment terms of the collaboration arrangement. If these criteria are met then the contingent milestones
can be considered as substantive milestones and will be recognized as revenue in the period that the milestone is achieved.

 
Business Combinations

 
The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired businesses to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their

estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The purchase price allocation process requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions,
especially at the acquisition date with respect to intangible assets and in-process research and development (IPR&D). In connection with the purchase price
allocations for acquisitions, the Company estimates the fair value of contingent acquisition consideration payments utilizing a probability-based income
approach inclusive of an estimated discount rate.



 
Although the Company believes the assumptions and estimates made are reasonable, they are based in part on historical experience and information

obtained from the management of the acquired businesses and are inherently uncertain. Examples of critical estimates in valuing any contingent acquisition
consideration issued or which may be issued and the intangible assets we have acquired or may acquire in the future include but are not limited to:
 

·        the feasibility and timing of achievement of development, regulatory and commercial milestones;
 
·        expected costs to develop the in-process research and development into commercially viable products; and
 
·        future expected cash flows from product sales.

 
Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual results.

 
Intangible Assets and Goodwill
 
The Company records goodwill in a business combination when the total consideration exceeds the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable

intangible assets acquired. Purchased in-process research and development is accounted for as an indefinite lived intangible asset until the underlying project
is completed, at which point the intangible asset will be accounted for as a definite lived intangible asset, or abandoned, at which point the intangible asset
will be written off or partially impaired. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are assessed annually for impairment on October 1 and whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If it is determined that the full carrying
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amount of an asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.
 

Valuation of Contingent Consideration Payable
 
Each period the Company reassess the fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration payable associated with certain acquisitions and records

changes in the fair value as contingent consideration expense. Increases or decreases in the fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration payable can
result from changes in estimated probability adjustments with respect to regulatory approval, changes in the assumed timing of when milestones are likely to
be achieved and changes in assumed discount periods and rates. Significant judgment is employed in determining the appropriateness of these assumptions
each period. Accordingly, future business and economic conditions, as well as changes in any of the assumptions described in the accounting for business
combinations above can materially impact the amount of contingent consideration expense that the Company records in any given period.

 
Fair Value Measurements
 
The Company records certain asset and liability balances under the fair value measurements as defined by the FASB guidance.  Current FASB fair value

guidance emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement.  Therefore, a fair value measurement should be
determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.  As a basis for considering market participant
assumptions in fair value measurements, current FASB guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between market participant assumptions
based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity (observable inputs that are classified within Levels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy)
and the reporting entity’s own assumptions that  market participants assumptions would use in pricing assets or liabilities (unobservable inputs classified
within Level 3 of the hierarchy).

 
Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at

measurement date.  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly.  Level 2 inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, as well as inputs that are observable for the asset or
liability (other than quoted prices), such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3
inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which is typically based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market
activity.  In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in
the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
in its entirety.  The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and
considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

 
New Accounting Standards
 
In July 2013, the FASB issued an update that clarified existing guidance on the presentation of unrecognized tax benefits when various qualifying tax

benefit carryforwards exist, including when the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented as a reduction to deferred tax assets or as a liability. This update
is required to be adopted for all annual periods and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted.  The
Company evaluated the impact of this new provision on the consolidated results of operations or financial position and determined that there was no impact to
the Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial position.

 
In February 2013, the FASB amended its guidance to require an entity to present the effect of certain significant reclassifications out of accumulated

other comprehensive income on the respective line items in net income. The new accounting guidance does not change the items that must be reported in
other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The guidance is effective prospectively for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2012.  The Company adopted these new provisions for the quarter beginning January 1, 2013. As the guidance
requires additional presentation only, there was no impact to the Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial position.
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Note 2.  Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securities
 

As of March 31, 2014, the Company held $27.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and $44.1 million of available-for-sale investment securities which
are reported at fair value on the Company’s balance sheet.  Unrealized holding gains and losses are reported within accumulated comprehensive income/(loss)
in the statement of comprehensive loss.  If a decline in the fair value of a marketable security below the Company’s cost basis is determined to be other than
temporary, such marketable security is written down to its estimated fair value as a new cost basis and the amount of the write-down is included in earnings as
an impairment charge.  To date, only temporary impairment adjustments have been recorded.

 
Consistent with the Company’s investment policy, the Company does not use derivative financial instruments in its investment portfolio.  The Company

regularly invests excess operating cash in deposits with major financial institutions, money market funds, notes issued by the U.S. government, as well as
fixed income investments and U.S. bond funds both of which can be readily purchased and sold using established markets.  The Company believes that the
market risk arising from its holdings of these financial instruments is mitigated as many of these securities are either government backed or of the highest
credit rating.

 
Cash and available-for-sale securities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2013 and March 31, 2014 (in thousands):

 
  

As of December 31, 2013
 

  
Cost

 

Unrealized
Gain

 

Unrealized
Loss

 

Fair
Value

 

Cash balances
 

$ 43,640
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 43,640
 

Corporate debt securities
 

30,817
 

1
 

(6) 30,812
 

Commercial paper
 

7,192
 

6
 

—
 

7,198
 

Certificate of deposit
 

350
 

—
 

—
 

350
 

  

$ 81,999
 

$ 7
 

$ (6) $ 82,000
 

          
Included in cash and cash equivalents

 

$ 43,640
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 43,640
 

Included in marketable securities
 

38,359
 

7
 

(6) 38,360
 

Total cash and available for sale securities
 

$ 81,999
 

$ 7
 

$ (6) $ 82,000
 

 
  

As of March 31, 2014
 

  
Cost

 

Unrealized
Gain

 

Unrealized
Loss

 

Fair
Value

 

Cash balances
 

$ 27,533
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 27,533
 

Corporate debt securities
 

31,580
 

1
 

(8) 31,573
 

Commercial paper
 

12,189
 

9
 

—
 

12,198
 

Certificate of deposit
 

350
 

—
 

—
 

350
 

  

$ 71,652
 

$ 10
 

$ (8) $ 71,654
 

          
Included in cash and cash equivalents

 

$ 27,533
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 27,533
 

Included in marketable securities
 

44,119
 

10
 

(8) 44,121
 

Total cash and available for sale securities
 

$ 71,652
 

$ 10
 

$ (8) $ 71,654
 

 
Unrealized gains and losses are reported as a component of other comprehensive income/ (loss) in the statements of comprehensive loss.  For the year

ended December 31, 2013, unrealized holding loss of $13 thousand and for the three months ended March 31, 2014, unrealized holding gain of $1 thousand,
respectively, were recognized.

 
For the year ended December 31, 2013 and the three months ended March 31, 2014, there were no realized gains or losses.  The cost of securities sold is

based on the specific identification method.
 
Unrealized loss positions in the available for sale securities as of December 31, 2013 and March 31, 2014 reflect temporary impairments that have not

been recognized and have been in a loss position for less than twelve months.  The fair value of these
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available for sale securities in unrealized loss positions was $23.6 million and $24.2 million as of December 31, 2013 and March 31, 2014, respectively.
 

The Company holds available-for-sale investment securities which are reported at fair value on the Company’s balance sheet. Unrealized holding gains
and losses are reported within accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) in the statements of comprehensive loss.  The changes in AOCI associated
with the unrealized holding gain on available-for-sale investments during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2014, were as follows (in thousands):
 
  

Three Months Ended March 31,
 

  
2013

 
2014

 

Balance, beginning
 

$ 14
 

$ 1
 

Current period changes in fair value, (a)
 

1
 

1
 

Reclassification of earnings, (a)
 

—
 

—
 

Balance, ending
 

$ 15
 

$ 2
 

 

(a) — Taxes have not been accrued on the unrealized gain on securities as the Company is in a loss position for all periods presented.
 
Note 3.  Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common Stockholders per Common Share
 

The Company calculates net loss per share as a measurement of the Company’s performance while giving effect to all dilutive potential common shares
that were outstanding during the reporting period.  The Company has a net loss for all periods presented; accordingly, the inclusion of common stock options



and warrants would be anti-dilutive.  Therefore, the weighted average shares used to calculate both basic and diluted earnings per share are the same.
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in computing basic and diluted net loss attributable to common

stockholders per common share:
 

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
 

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2013

 
2014

 

Historical
     

Numerator:
     

Net loss attributable to common stockholders
 

$ (17,458) $ (15,943)
      
Denominator:

     

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic and diluted
 

49,621,188
 

64,353,952
 

 
Dilutive common stock equivalents would include the dilutive effect of common stock options and warrants for common stock equivalents.  Potentially

dilutive common stock equivalents totaled approximately 10.5 million and 11.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. 
Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents were excluded from the diluted earnings per share denominator for all periods because of their anti-dilutive
effect.

 
Note 4.   Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc.
 

In November 2013, the Company acquired Callidus, through the merger of the Company’s subsidiary, CB Acquisition Corp. with and into Callidus (see
“— Note 1. Description of Business”).  Callidus was a privately-held biologics company focused on developing best-in-class ERTs for LSDs and its lead ERT
is AT-B200 for Pompe disease in late preclinical development. The acquisition of the Callidus assets and technology complements Amicus’ CHART™
platform for the development of next generation ERTs.

 
In consideration for the merger, the Company agreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 million shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per share, to the

former stockholders of Callidus.  As of March 31, 2014, approximately 25 thousand shares remain issuable to former Callidus shareholders.  In addition, the
Company will be obligated to make additional payments to the former stockholders of Callidus upon the achievement by the Company of certain clinical
milestones of up to $35 million and regulatory approval milestones of up to $105 million as set forth in the Merger Agreement, provided that the aggregate
consideration shall not exceed $130 million.  The Company may, at its election, satisfy certain milestone payments identified in the Merger Agreement
aggregating $40 million in shares of its Common Stock (calculated based on a price per share equal to the average of the last closing bid price per share for
the Common Stock on The NASDAQ Global Market for the ten (10) trading days
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immediately preceding the date of payment).  The milestone payments not permitted to be satisfied in Common Stock (as well as any payments that the
Company is permitted to, but chooses not to, satisfy in Common Stock), as a result of the terms of the Merger Agreement, the rules of The NASDAQ Global
Market, or otherwise, will be paid in cash.
 

The fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration payments on the acquisition date was $10.6 million and was estimated by applying a
probability-based income approach utilizing an appropriate discount rate. This estimation was based on significant inputs that are not observable in the
market, referred to as Level 3 inputs. Key assumptions included a discount rate of 13.5% and various probability factors. As of March 31, 2014, the range of
outcomes and assumptions used to develop these estimates has not changed (see “— Note 8. Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value” for additional
discussion regarding fair value measurements of the contingent acquisition consideration payable).  The Company determined the fair value of the contingent
consideration to be $11.1 million at March 31, 2014, resulting in an increase in the contingent consideration payable and related expense of $0.5 million.

 
The purchase price allocation was subject to completion of our analysis of the fair value of the assets and liabilities as of the effective date of the Merger

Agreement.  The final valuation was completed as of March 31, 2014.  The final allocation of the purchase price at March 31, 2014 was as follows:
 

  
(in thousands)

 

Upfront equity payments
 

$ 15,000
 

Contingent acquisition consideration payable
 

10,600
 

Total consideration
 

25,600
 

Cash and cash equivalents
 

34
 

Property, plant and equipment
 

173
 

Intangible assets — IPR&D
 

23,000
 

Total identifiable assets acquired
 

$ 23,207
 

Accounts payable
 

(34)
Deferred tax liability

 

(9,186)
Total liabilities assumed

 

(9,220)
Net identifiable assets acquired

 

13,987
 

Goodwill
 

11,613
 

Net assets acquired
 

$ 25,600
 

 
A substantial portion of the assets acquired consisted of intangible assets related to Callidus lead ERT. The Company determined that the estimated

acquisition-date fair values of the IPR&D related to the lead ERT was $23.0 million.
 
The $9.2 million of deferred tax liabilities relates to the tax impact of future amortization or possible impairments associated with the identified

intangible assets acquired, which are not deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill results from the recognition of the deferred tax liability on the intangible
assets as well as synergies expected from the acquisition and other benefits that do not qualify for separate recognition as acquired intangible assets. None of



the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. The Company recorded the goodwill in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of the
acquisition date.

 
The Company recognized $0.5 million of acquisition-related transaction costs in selling, general and administrative expenses during 2013, which

consisted primarily of legal fees and severance related to the acquisition. The expenses recognized in 2014 were de minimis and consisted primarily of
accounting fees.

 
For further information, see “— Note 5 Goodwill & Note 6 Intangible Assets.”
 

Supplemental Pro Forma Information
 

The following pro forma information for the three months ending March 31, 2013 assumes the Merger Agreement occurred as of January 1, 2013.  The
pro forma information is not necessarily indicative either of the combined results of operations that actually would have been realized had the Merger
Agreement been consummated during the period for which pro forma information is presented, or is it intended to be a projection of future results or trends.
 
  

Three Months Ended March 31,
 

  
2013

 

Revenue
 

$ —
 

Net loss
 

$ 17,839
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Note 5.   Goodwill
 

In connection with the acquisition of Callidus in November 2013, the Company recognized $11.6 million of goodwill, resulting from the recognition of
the deferred tax liability on the intangible assets as well as synergies expected from the acquisition and other benefits that do not qualify for separate
recognition as acquired intangible assets.
 

Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests if the Company becomes aware of any events occurring or changes in the
circumstances that would indicate a reduction in the fair value of the goodwill below its carrying amount.

 
The following table represents the changes in goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2014:
 

  
(in thousands)

 

Balance at December 31, 2013
 

$ 11,613
 

Change in goodwill related to the acquisition of Callidus
 

—
 

Balance at March 31, 2014
 

11,613
 

 
Note 6.   Intangible Assets
 

In connection with the acquisition of Callidus in November 2013, the Company recognized $23.0 million of IPR&D.
 
Intangible assets consisting of IPR&D are considered indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development

efforts.  During the period the assets are considered indefinite lived, they will not be amortized but will be tested for impairment on an annual basis and in
between annual tests if the Company becomes aware of any events occurring or changes in the circumstances that would indicate a reduction in the fair value
of the intangible asset below its carrying amount.

 
The following table represents the changes in intangible assets for the three months ended March 31, 2014:
 

  
(in thousands)

 

Balance at December 31, 2013
 

$ 23,000
 

Change in IPR&D related to the acquisition of Callidus
 

—
 

Balance at March 31, 2014
 

23,000
 

 
Note 7.   Stockholders’ Equity
 

Common Stock and Warrants
 
As of March 31, 2014, the Company was authorized to issue 125,000,000 shares of common stock. Dividends on common stock will be paid when, and if

declared by the board of directors. Each holder of common stock is entitled to vote on all matters and is entitled to one vote for each share held.
 
In March 2014, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”) to create an at-the-market (“ATM”) equity

program under which the Company from time to time may offer and sell shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per share, having an aggregate offering
price of up to $40 million (“ATM Shares”) through Cowen. Upon delivery of a placement notice and subject to the terms and conditions of the ATM
agreement, Cowen will use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell the ATM Shares from time to time, based upon the Company’s instructions. The
Company has provided Cowen with customary indemnification rights, and Cowen will be entitled to a commission at a fixed commission rate of up to 3.0%
of the gross proceeds per Share sold. Sales of the Shares, if any, under the Agreement may be made in transactions that are deemed to be “at the market
offerings” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including sales made by means of ordinary brokers’ transactions, including
on The NASDAQ Global Market, at market prices or as otherwise agreed with Cowen. The Company has no obligation to sell any of the ATM Shares, and
may at any time suspend offers under the Agreement or terminate the Agreement. The Company or Cowen may suspend or terminate the offering of common
stock upon notice and subject to other conditions. Since the inception of the ATM agreement, the Company has not sold any shares of common stock under
the ATM agreement.

 



In November 2013, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement  (the “2013 SPA”)  with GSK and certain entities controlled by Redmile
Group, LLC for the private placement of shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01
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and a combination of shares of common stock (the “Shares”) and warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase shares of the Common Stock (collectively, the
“Units”).  Each of the investors was one of the Company’s shareholders prior to consummation of these transactions.  The Shares and the Units sold to the
investors were offered and sold in reliance on exemptions from registration pursuant to Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act based
on the nature of such investors and certain representations made to the Company. Pursuant to the 2013 SPA, Amicus agreed to issue 1.5 million Shares at
$2.00 per Share to GSK and (b) 6 million Units at $2.00 per Unit to Redmile Group, with each Unit consisting of one Share and .267 Warrants resulting in an
aggregate of 6 million Shares and 1.6 million Warrants underlying the Units to be issued. Each Warrant is exercisable between July 1, 2014 and June 30, 2015
with an exercise price of $2.50, subject to certain adjustments. The Company received total proceeds of $15 million for general corporate and working capital
purposes as a result of the private placement and the transaction closed in November 2013.  At March 31, 2014, GSK’s resulting equity stake in the Company
was 17.6%.

 
At the time of issuance the Company evaluated the warrants against current accounting guidance and determined that these warrants should be accounted

as a component of equity. As such, these warrants were valued at issuance date using the Black Scholes valuation model using inputs such as the underlying
price of the shares issued when the warrant is exercised, volatility, risk free interest rate and expected life of the instrument. The six inputs used to determine
the value of the warrants were: (1) the closing price of Amicus stock on the day of evaluation of $2.12; (2) the exercise price of the warrants of $2.50; (3) the
remaining term of the warrants of 1 year; (4) the volatility of Amicus’ stock for the one year term of 93.5%; (5) the annual rate of dividends of 0%; and
(6) the riskless rate of return of 0.12%. The annual rate of dividends is based on the Company’s historical practice of not granting dividends.  The resulting
Black Scholes value of the warrants was $1.0 million.

 
In November 2013, in connection with its acquisition of Callidus, the Company agreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 million shares of its common stock,

par value $0.01 per share, to the former stockholders of Callidus. As of March 31, 2014, approximately 25 thousand shares remain issuable to former Callidus
shareholders.

 
In July 2012, Amicus and GSK entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “2012 SPA”) pursuant to which GSK purchased 2.9 million unregistered

shares of Amicus common stock at a price of $6.30 per share. The total purchase price for these shares was $18.6 million. As of March 31, 2014, GSK had a
17.6% ownership position in the Company.

 
In March 2012, the Company sold 11.5 million shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $5.70 through a Registration Statement on

Form S-3 that was declared effective by the SEC on May 27, 2009. The aggregate offering proceeds were $65.6 million.
 
In October 2010, GSK purchased approximately 6.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.56 per share, in connection with the Original

Collaboration Agreement. The total value of this equity investment was approximately $31 million.
 
In March 2010, the Company sold 4.9 million shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase 1.9 million shares of common stock in a registered

direct offering to a selected group of institutional investors through a Registration Statement on Form S-3 that was declared effective by the SEC on May 27,
2009. The shares of common stock and warrants were sold in units consisting of one share of common stock and one warrant to purchase 0.375 shares of
common stock at a price of $3.74 per unit. The warrants had a term of four years and were exercisable any time on or after the six month anniversary of the
date they were issued, at an exercise price of $4.43 per share. The gross offering proceeds were $18.5 million. The warrants expired on March 2, 2014.
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Stock Option Plans
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $1.3 million.  The stock-

based compensation expense had no impact on the Company’s cash flows from operations and financing activities.  As of March 31, 2014, the total
unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted was $7.7 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 2.4 years.  The following table summarizes information related to stock compensation expense recognized in the statements of operations (in
thousands):
 
  

Three Months Ended March 31,
 

  
2013 

 
2014

 

Stock compensation expense recognized in:
     

Research and development expense
 

$ 924
 

$ 550
 

General and administrative expense
 

650
 

710
 

Total stock compensation expense
 

$ 1,574
 

$ 1,260
 

 
The fair value of the options granted is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average

assumptions:
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2013

 
2014

 

Expected stock price volatility
 

82.0% 81.4%
Risk free interest rate

 

1.2% 2.0%
Expected life of options (years)

 

6.25
 

6.25
 

Expected annual dividend per share
 

$ 0.00
 

$ 0.00
 

 



A summary of option activities related to the Company’s stock options for the three months ended March 31, 2014 is as follows:
 
      

Weighted
   

    
Weighted

 
Average

   

  
Number

 
Average

 
Remaining

 
Aggregate

 

  
of

 
Exercise

 
Contractual

 
Intrinsic

 

  
Shares

 
Price

 
Life

 
Value

 

  
(in thousands)

     
(in thousands)

 

          
Balance at December 31, 2013

 

9,041.1
 

$ 5.65
     

Options granted
 

1,344.0
 

$ 2.43
     

Options exercised
 

(5.5) $ 2.70
     

Options forfeited
 

(719.9) $ 6.01
     

Balance at March 31, 2014
 

9,659.7
 

$ 5.17
 

7.2 years
 

$ 32.0
 

Vested and unvested expected to vest, March 31, 2014
 

9,058.6
 

$ 5.31
 

7.0 years
 

$ 32.0
 

Exercisable at March 31, 2014
 

5,435.0
 

$ 6.48
 

5.8 years
 

$ 31.8
 

 
Note 8.  Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value
 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value and classified within the fair value hierarchy which is defined as follows:
 

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.
 
Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
 
Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability.
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Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securities
 

The Company classifies its cash and money market funds within the fair value hierarchy as Level 1 as these assets are valued using quoted prices in
active market for identical assets at the measurement date.  The Company considers its investments in marketable securities as available-for-sale and classifies
these assets within the fair value hierarchy as Level 2 primarily utilizing broker quotes in a non-active market for valuation of these securities. No changes in
valuation techniques or inputs occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2014.  No transfers of assets between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value
measurement hierarchy occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2014.

 
Secured Debt
 
As disclosed in Note 8, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the “2013 Loan Agreement”) with MidCap Funding III, LLC, Oxford

Finance LLC and Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) in December 2013, in addition to an earlier existing loan with Silicon Valley Bank. The carrying amount of
the Company’s borrowings approximates fair value at March 31, 2014. The Company’s secured debt is classified as Level 2 and the fair value is estimated
using quoted prices for similar liabilities in active markets, as well as inputs that are observable for the liability (other than quoted prices), such as interest
rates that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

 
In connection with the 2013 Loan Agreement, as disclosed in Note 8, the Company recorded a contingent liability of approximately $0.3 million

representing the fair value of a contingent payment of up to $0.4 million related to a success fee payable within six months of a trigger event, with the trigger
event being regulatory acceptance of a New Drug Application (“NDA”) or the Marketing Authorization Application (“MAA”) submission. This is effective
five years from the closing of the 2013 Loan Agreement. The success fee payable to the lender was probability adjusted and discounted utilizing an
appropriate discount rate and classified as Level 3. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, change in fair value of the contingent success fee payable was
nine thousand and is recorded in other income/(expense) in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
 

  
(in thousands)

 

Fair value balance at December 31, 2013
 

$ 264
 

Change in fair value
 

9
 

Fair value balance at March 31, 2014
 

$ 273
 

 
Contingent Consideration Payable
 
The Company recorded a liability upon the acquisition of Callidus to estimate the fair value of future contingent consideration payments which may be

made to former Callidus stockholders, as outlined under the terms of the merger agreement with Callidus. These contingent payments are owed if upon the
achievement by Callidus of certain clinical milestones of up to $35 million and regulatory approval milestones of up to $105 million as set forth in the Merger
Agreement, provided that the aggregate consideration shall not exceed $130 million. The fair values of these Level 3 liabilities are estimated using a
probability-weighted discounted cash flow analysis. Such valuations require significant estimates and assumptions including but not limited to: determining
the timing and estimated costs to complete the in-process projects, projecting regulatory approvals, estimating future cash flows, and developing appropriate
discount rates.

 
Subsequent changes in the fair value of these contingent consideration liabilities are recorded to the “Change in fair value of contingent consideration

payable” expense line item in the consolidated statements of operations under operating expenses. From December 31, 2013 through March 31, 2014, the
recognized amount of the contingent consideration payable increased by $0.5 million primarily as the result of the time value of money.

 
  

(in thousands)
 

Fair value balance at December 31, 2013
 

$ 10,600
 

Change in fair value
 

505
 

Fair value balance at March 31, 2014
 

$ 11,105
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Warrants
 
The Company allocated $3.3 million of proceeds from its March 2010 registered direct offering to warrants issued in connection with the offering that

was classified as a liability. The valuation of the warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes model. The Company determined the warrant liability is
most appropriately classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. This liability is subject to fair value mark-to-market adjustment each period and the
Company recognized the change in the fair value of the warrant liability as non-operating expense of $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013
and the resulting fair value of the warrant liability at March 31, 2013 was $1.2 million. The warrants expired on March 2, 2014 and hence the warrant liability
is no longer recognized on the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2014.

 
A summary of the fair value of the Company’s assets and liabilities aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements

fall as of December 31, 2013, are identified in the following table (in thousands):
 
  

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Total
 

Assets:
       

Cash/ money market funds
 

$ 43,640
 

$ —
 

$ 43,640
 

Corporate debt securities
 

—
 

30,812
 

30,812
 

Commercial paper
 

—
 

7,198
 

7,198
 

Certificate of deposit
 

—
 

350
 

350
 

  

$ 43,640
 

$ 38,360
 

$ 82,000
 

 
  

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Total
 

Liabilities:
         

Secured debt
 

$ —
 

$ 14,473
 

$ —
 

$ 14,473
 

Contingent success fee payable
 

—
 

—
 

264
 

264
 

Contingent consideration payable
 

—
 

—
 

10,600
 

10,600
 

Warrants liability
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

  

$ —
 

$ 14,473
 

$ 10,864
 

$ 25,337
 

 
A summary of the fair value of the Company’s assets and liabilities aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements

fall as of March 31, 2014, are identified in the following table (in thousands):
 
  

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Total
 

Assets:
       

Cash/ money market funds
 

$ 27,533
 

$ —
 

$ 27,533
 

Corporate debt securities
 

—
 

31,573
 

31,573
 

Commercial paper
 

—
 

12,198
 

12,198
 

Certificate of deposit
 

—
 

350
 

350
 

  

$ 27,533
 

$ 44,121
 

$ 71,654
 

 
  

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Total
 

Liabilities:
         

Secured debt
 

$ —
 

$ 14,415
 

$ —
 

$ 14,415
 

Contingent success fee payable
 

—
 

—
 

273
 

273
 

Contingent consideration payable
 

—
 

—
 

11,105
 

11,105
 

  

$ —
 

$ 14,415
 

$ 11,378
 

$ 25,793
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Note 9.   Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt
 

In August 2011, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the “2011 Loan Agreement”) with SVB, in order to finance certain capital
expenditures by the Company in connection with its move in March 2012 to new office and laboratory space in Cranbury, New Jersey. The 2011 Loan
Agreement provided for up to $3 million of equipment financing through January 2014. Borrowings under the 2011 Loan Agreement were collateralized by
equipment purchased with the proceeds of the loan and bear interest at a variable rate of SVB prime + 2.5%. The current SVB prime rate is 4.0%. In
February 2012, the Company borrowed approximately $1.0 million from the 2011 Loan Agreement which will be repaid over the following 2.5 years. The
2011 Loan Agreement contains financial covenants and the Company has at all times been in compliance with these covenants.  At March 31, 2014 the total
amount due under the 2011 Loan Agreement was $0.2 million.

 
In December 2013, the Company entered into the 2013 Loan Agreement with a lending syndicate consisting of MidCap Funding III, LLC, Oxford

Finance LLC, and SVB which provides an aggregate of $25 million (the “Term Loan”).  The Company drew $15 million of the aggregate principal amount of
the Term Loan at the end of December 2013 (the “First Tranche”) and may draw up to an additional $10 million through the end of the fourth quarter of 2014
(the “Second Tranche”).  The principal outstanding balance of the First Tranche bears interest at a rate per annum fixed at 8.5%. If the Company draws from
the Second Tranche, the principal outstanding balance of the Second Tranche will also have a fixed interest rate, which will be determined by reference to the
applicable index rate at the time of the draw.  The Company will make interest-only payments on the Term Loan beginning January 1, 2014 and continuing
through April 1, 2015, after which the Company will repay the aggregate principal outstanding balance of the Term Loan in 33 equal monthly installments of
principal, plus accrued interest at the applicable rate. The Term Loan matures on December 27, 2017.  At March 31, 2014, the total principal amount due
under the Term Loan was $15 million.



 
In connection with the Term Loan, the Company recorded a debt discount of $0.8 million at December 31, 2013 which consists of payments to be made

and a contingent payable to the lenders. These payments include a debt facility fee of $0.1 million which was paid on the date of the First Tranche, $0.4
million exit fee that will be payable upon repayment of the term loan and $0.3 million representing the fair value of a contingent payment of up to $0.4
million related to a success fee payable within six months of a trigger event, with the trigger event being regulatory acceptance of NDA or MMA submission.
This is effective 5 years from the closing of the Term Loan. The success fee payable to the lender was probability adjusted and discounted utilizing an
appropriate discount rate and is shown as a non-current liability on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Company amortized the debt discount and the deferred financing using the effective interest method and

recorded amortization expense of $48 thousand under operating expense on the consolidated statement of operations.
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s borrowings approximates fair value at March 31, 2014.
 

Note 10.  Collaborative Agreements
 

GSK
 
In October 2010, the Company entered into the Original Collaboration Agreement with Glaxo Group Limited, an affiliate of GSK, to develop and

commercialize migalastat. Under the terms of the Original Collaboration Agreement, GSK received an exclusive worldwide license to develop, manufacture
and commercialize migalastat. In consideration of the license grant, the Company received an upfront, license payment of $30 million from GSK and was
eligible to receive further payments of approximately $173.5 million upon the successful achievement of development, regulatory and commercialization
milestones, as well as tiered double-digit royalties on global sales of migalastat. Potential payments included up to (i) $13.5 million related to the attainment
of certain clinical development objectives and the acceptance of regulatory filings in select worldwide markets, (ii) $80 million related to market approvals
for migalastat in selected territories throughout the world, and (iii) $80 million associated with the achievement of certain sales thresholds. GSK and the
Company were jointly funding development costs in accordance with an agreed upon development plan. Additionally, GSK purchased approximately
6.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.56 per share, a 30% premium on the average price per share of the Company’s stock over a 60 day
period preceding the closing date of the transaction. The total value of this equity investment to the Company was approximately $31 million.

 
In July 2012, the Company entered into the Expanded Collaboration Agreement with GSK pursuant to which the Company and GSK continue to

develop and commercialize migalastat, currently in Phase 3 development for the treatment of Fabry disease. The Expanded Collaboration Agreement
amended and replaced in its entirety the Original Collaboration Agreement.
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Under the terms of the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Company and GSK were to co-develop all formulations of migalastat HCl for Fabry disease,
including the development of migalastat co-formulated with an investigational enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) for Fabry disease (the “Co-formulated
Product”).

 
Additionally, simultaneous with entry into the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, Amicus and GSK entered into the 2012 SPA pursuant to which GSK

purchased approximately 2.9 million shares of Amicus common stock at a price of $6.30 per share for proceeds of $18.6 million.
 
In November 2013, Amicus entered into the Revised Agreement with GSK, pursuant to which Amicus has obtained global rights to develop and

commercialize migalastat as a monotherapy and in combination with ERT for Fabry disease. The Revised Agreement amends and replaces in its entirety the
Expanded Agreement entered into between Amicus and GSK in July 2012. Under the terms of the Revised Agreement, there was no upfront payment from
Amicus to GSK. For the next-generation Fabry ERT (migalastat HCl co-formulated with ERT), GSK is eligible to receive single-digit royalties on net sales in
eight major markets outside the U.S. For migalastat HCl monotherapy, GSK is eligible to receive post-approval and sales-based milestones up to $40 million,
as well as tiered royalties in the mid-teens in eight major markets outside the U.S.

 
Under the terms of the Revised Agreement, GSK will no longer jointly fund development costs for all formulations of migalastat.
 
Under the Original Collaboration Agreement, the upfront license fee, together with the premium received on the stock purchase, was being recognized as

Collaboration Revenue over the original development period. In addition, the Company was receiving reimbursements of research expenditures under the cost
sharing arrangement which was being accounted for as Research Revenue on the statement of operations. Under the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the
Company will continue to receive research expense reimbursements for the development of migalastat but may be required to pay contingent milestones to
GSK in the future related to the U.S. commercial rights to migalastat.

 
In accordance with the revenue recognition guidance related to multiple-element arrangements, the Company identified all of the deliverables at the

inception of the Expanded Collaboration Agreement. The significant deliverables were determined to be the rest of world licensing rights to migalastat, the
research services to continue and complete the development of migalastat and the delivery of the Company’s common stock. The Company determined that
the rest of world licensing rights and the research services represent one unit of accounting as none of these deliverables on its own has standalone value
separate from the other. The Company also determined that the delivery of the Company’s common stock does have standalone value separate from the rest of
world licensing rights and the research services. As a result, the Company’s common stock was considered a separate unit of accounting and was accounted
for as an issuance of common stock. However, as the Company’s common stock was sold at a premium to the market closing price, the premium amount paid
over the market closing price was determined to be additional consideration paid to the Company for the collaboration agreement and was included as
consideration for the single unit of accounting (rest of world licensing rights and research services) identified above.

 
In evaluating the impact of the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Company applied the accounting guidance regarding the impact of potential

future payments it may make in its role as a vendor (Amicus) to its customer (GSK) and evaluated if these potential future payments could be a reduction of
revenue from GSK. If the potential future payments to GSK are:

 
·                  a payment for an identifiable benefit, and
 
·                  the identifiable benefit is separable from the existing relationship between the Company and GSK, and



 
·                  the identifiable benefit can be obtained from a party other than GSK, and
 
·                  the Company can reasonably estimate the fair value of the identifiable benefit,
 

then the potential future payments would be treated separately from the collaboration and research revenue. However, if all these criteria are not satisfied,
then the potential future payments are treated as a reduction of revenue.
 

Accordingly, the Company does not believe that, for accounting purposes, the new US licensing rights to migalastat obtained from GSK represent a
separate, identifiable benefit from the licenses in the Original Collaboration Agreement. The contingent amounts payable to GSK are not sufficiently
separable from GSK’s original license and the research and development reimbursements such that Amicus could not have entered into a similar exchange
transaction with another party. Additionally, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the US licensing rights to migalastat.
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The Company determined that the potential future payments to GSK would be treated as a reduction of revenue and that the total amount of revenue to be

received under the arrangement is no longer fixed or determinable as the contingent milestone payments are subject to significant uncertainty.
 

As a result, the Company no longer recognizes any of the upfront license fees and premiums on the equity purchase from GSK until such time as the
arrangement consideration becomes fixed or determinable, because an indeterminable amount may ultimately be payable back to GSK. These amounts (the
balance of the unrecognized upfront license fee and the premium on the equity purchases) are classified as deferred reimbursements on the balance sheet.

 
The recognition of Research Revenue is also affected by the determination that the overall total arrangement consideration is no longer fixed and

determinable, despite the fact that the research activities will continue and that the research expense reimbursements by GSK to Amicus will be received as
the research activities related to the reimbursement would have already been completed. Therefore any research reimbursements from GSK are recorded as
deferred reimbursements on the balance sheet and not recognized until the total arrangement consideration becomes fixed and determinable.

 
As a result, all revenue recognition was suspended until the total arrangement consideration becomes fixed and determinable. In addition, future

milestone payments made by the Company will be applied against the balance of this deferred reimbursements account.  In the third quarter of 2013, the
Company paid GSK a pass-through milestone payment of $0.8 million in connection with the development of the Co-formulated product.  This payment is
reflected as a reduction of the deferred reimbursements in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013.

 
Revenue recognition for research expense reimbursements, the original upfront license fee, and the equity premiums will resume once the total

arrangement consideration becomes fixed and determinable which will occur when the balance of the deferred reimbursements account is sufficient to cover
all the remaining contingent milestone payments.

 
Under the Original Collaboration Agreement, the Company evaluated the contingent milestones and determined that they were substantive milestones

and would be recognized as revenue in the period that the milestone is achieved. The Company determined that the research based milestones were
commensurate with the enhanced value of each delivered item as a result of the Company’s specific performance to achieve the milestones. The research
based milestones would have related to past performances when achieved and were reasonable relative to the other payment terms within the Original
Collaboration Agreement. In June 2012, the Company achieved a clinical development milestone and recognized $3.5 million of milestone revenue. Under
the terms of the Expanded Agreement or the Revised Agreement, the Company is no longer entitled to receive any milestone payments from GSK.

 
Biogen
 
In September 2013, the Company entered into a license and collaboration agreement (the “Biogen Agreement”) with Biogen to discover, develop and

commercialize novel small molecules for the treatment of Parkinson’s disease. Under terms of the multi-year agreement, the Company and Biogen will
collaborate in the discovery of a new class of small molecules that target the GCase enzyme, for further development and commercialization by Biogen. 
Biogen will be responsible for funding all discovery, development, and commercialization activities.  In addition the Company will be reimbursed for all full-
time employees working on the project as part of a cost sharing arrangement.  The Company is also eligible to receive development and regulatory
milestones, as well as modest royalties in global net sales.

 
In accordance with the revenue recognition guidance related to reimbursement of research and development expenses, the Company identified all

deliverables at the inception of the agreement.  The Company has not commenced its planned principal operations (i.e. selling commercial products) and is
therefore a development stage enterprise.  The Company is only performing development of its compounds, and therefore, development activities are part of
the Company’s ongoing central operations.  Additionally, the Company has the following accounting policies:

 
·                  Research and development expenses related to a collaboration agreement will be recorded on a gross basis in the income statement and not

presented net of any reimbursement received from a collaboration agreement; and
 
·                  The reimbursement of research and development expenses from a collaborator will be recognized in the income statement as “Research

Revenue” for the period in which the research activity occurred.
 

As of March 31, 2014, the Company recognized $0.5 million in Research Revenue for work performed under the cost sharing arrangement of the Biogen
Agreement.

 
The Company evaluated the contingent milestones included in the Biogen Agreement at the inception of the Biogen Agreement and determined that the

contingent milestones are substantive milestones and will be recognized as revenue in the period that the milestone is achieved.  The Company determined
that the research based milestones are commensurate with the enhanced value of each delivered item as a result of the Company’s specific performance to
achieve the milestones.  The research
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based milestones would relate to past performances when achieved and are reasonable relative to the other payment terms within the Biogen Agreement,
including the cost sharing arrangement.

 
Note 11.  Restructuring Charges

 
In November 2013, the Company announced a work-force reduction of approximately 14 percent, or 15 employees, as a part of a corporate restructuring.

This measure was intended to reduce costs and to align the Company’s resources with its key strategic priorities.
 
In December 2013, the Company initiated and completed a facilities consolidation effort, closing one of its subleased locations in San Diego, CA. The

Company recorded a total charge of $1.9 million during the fourth quarter of 2013 which included $1.2 million for employment termination costs payable and
a facilities consolidation charge of $0.8 million consisting of lease payments of $0.7 million related to the net present value of the net future minimum lease
payments at the cease-use date and the write-down of the net book value of the fixed assets in the vacated building of $0.1 million. At March 31, 2014,
$0.5 million of the restructuring charges related to employment termination costs were unpaid and classified under accrued expenses on the balance sheet.

 
The following table summarizes the restructuring charges and utilization for the three months ended March 31, 2014 (in thousands):

 

  

Balance as of
December 31,

2013
 

Charges
 

Cash Payments
 

Adjustments
 

Balance as of
March 31, 2014

 

Employment termination costs
 

$ 1,139
 

$ —
 

$ (673) $ —
 

$ 466
 

Facilities consolidation
 

703
 

—
 

(130) (8) 565
 

  

$ 1,842
 

$ —
 

$ (803) $ (8) $ 1,031
 

 
Note 12.  Subsequent Events
 

The Company evaluated events that occurred subsequent to March 31, 2014 and there were no material recognized or non-recognized subsequent events
during this period.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Overview
 

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of next-generation medicines for a range of rare and
orphan diseases, with a focus on improved therapies for lysosomal storage disorders (LSDs). Our development programs include next-generation enzyme
replacement therapies (ERTs) for LSDs, including Fabry disease, Pompe disease and Mucopolysaccharoidosis Type I (MPS I). We are also developing novel
small molecules as monotherapy treatments for Fabry disease and Parkinson’s disease. We believe that our platform technologies and our advanced product
pipeline uniquely position us at the forefront of developing therapies for rare and orphan diseases.

 
Program Status
 

Migalastat HCl for Fabry Disease as a Monotherapy:  Phase 3 Global Registration Program
 

We are conducting two global Phase 3 registration studies (Study 011 and Study 012) of the oral pharmacological chaperone migalastat HCl (“migalastat”)
as a monotherapy. Both studies enrolled males and females with Fabry disease who have alpha-Gal A mutations that are amenable to migalastat monotherapy.
Amenable mutations are defined as having an absolute increase of 3% of wild type alpha-Gal A enzyme activity and a relative increase of 20% when exposed
to migalastat in a cell-based in vitro assay.
 

Study 011 was designed to measure the reduction of the disease substrate (Globotriaosylceramide, or GL-3) in the interstitial capillaries of the kidney
following treatment with oral migalastat (150 mg, every other day). The 24-month study began with a 6-month double-blind, placebo-controlled treatment
period, after which all patients were treated with migalastat for a 6-month open-label follow-up period, and a subsequent 12-month open-label extension
phase. The study also measured clinical outcomes, including renal function, as secondary endpoints.
 

As previously reported, patients on migalastat experienced greater reductions in GL-3 as compared to placebo during the initial 6-month period; however,
this difference was not statistically significant under the original study primary endpoint (responder analysis with a 50% reduction threshold at month 6). The
variability and low levels of GL-3 at baseline contributed to a higher-than-anticipated placebo response at month 6.
 

Following the unblinding of the 6-month data, and while still blinded to the 12-month data, we reported the mean change in GL-3 as a post-hoc analysis
from baseline to month 6, which showed statistically significant reductions in GL-3 in the migalastat group compared to placebo. The mean change in GL-3
was identified as a more appropriate way to control for the variability in GL-3 levels in Study 011 and to measure the biological effect of migalastat.
 

We also analyzed the mean change in GL-3 from baseline to month 6 in a subgroup of patients with amenable mutations in a GLP-validated human
embryonic kidney (HEK) cell-based in vitro assay (“GLP HEK amenable”) assay. Results from this subgroup analysis further support use of the GLP HEK
assay in predicting responsiveness to migalastat. Following a Type C Meeting with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, we revised the Statistical
Analysis Plan to pre-specify the primary analysis at month 12 as the mean change in GL-3 in patients with GLP HEK amenable mutations.
 

All subjects enrolled in Study 011 had amenable mutations in the clinical trail HEK assay available at study initiation (“clinical trail assay”). Following
the completion of enrollment, the GLP HEK assay was developed with a third party to measure the criteria for amenability with more quality control and



rigor. However, approximately 10% of mutations in the HEK database switched categorization between “amenable” and “non-amenable” when moving from
the clinical trial assay to the GLP HEK assay. Therefore, there were changes in categorization from amenable to non-amenable in 17 patients in Study 011.
 

In April 2014, we released top-line 12- and 24-month results data from Study 011 in patients with GLP HEK amenable mutations:
 

·                  Subjects who switched from placebo to migalastat after month 6 demonstrated a statistically significant reduction in kidney interstitial capillary
GL-3 at month 12 (p=0.013), which met the 12-month pre-specified primary analysis, and a reduction of disease substrate in another important
biomarker of disease, plasma lyso-Gb3.

·                  Subjects who remained on migalastat demonstrated a durable reduction in kidney interstitial capillary GL-3, as well as a significant and durable
reduction in lyso-Gb3.

·                  Kidney function, as measured by estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) and iohexol (measured) GFR, or mGFR, remained stable following
18-24 months of treatment with migalastat.
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·      From a safety perspective, migalastat was generally safe and well-tolerated.
 

Study 012, our second Phase 3 registration study, is a randomized, open-label 18-month study investigating the safety and efficacy of oral migalastat (150
mg, every-other-day) compared to standard-of-care infused ERTs (Fabrazyme® and Replagal®). The study enrolled a total of 60 patients (males and females)
with Fabry disease and genetic mutations identified as amenable to migalastat monotherapy in a clinical trial assay. Subjects were randomized 1.5:1 to switch
to migalastat or remain on ERT. All subjects had been receiving ERT infusions for a minimum of 12 months (at least 3 months at the labeled dose) prior to
entering the study. The primary outcome measure is renal function assessed by GFR at 18 months, evaluated in the migalastat and ERT groups using
descriptive statistics. This study achieved full enrollment in December 2012 and top-line results are expected in the third quarter of 2014.
 

Pending positive data from Study 012, we plan to meet with U.S. and EU regulatory authorities to discuss data from both Phase 3 studies as well as the
registration pathway for migalastat monotherapy.

 
Migalastat HCl Combination Programs for Fabry Disease

 
We completed an open-label Phase 2 safety and pharmacokinetics study (Study 013) that investigated two oral doses of migalastat (150 mg and 450 mg)

co-administered with Fabrazyme® (agalsidase beta) or Replagal® (agalsidase alfa) in males with Fabry disease. Preliminary results from Study 013 showed
increased levels of active alpha-Gal A enzyme levels in plasma and increased alpha-Gal A enzyme in skin following co-administration compared to ERT
alone. We and GSK completed preclinical studies to evaluate migalastat co-formulated with a proprietary investigational ERT (JR-051, recombinant human
alpha-Gal A enzyme). Based on these results, we plan to advance migalastat co-formulated with ERT for Fabry disease. We initiated a Phase 1 study in
healthy volunteers to investigate the PK of IV migalastat to identify optimal doses for a Phase 1/2 clinical study of migalastat co-formulated with ERT in
Fabry patients. We expect to initate this Phase 1/2 study in the second half of 2014. We are currently evaluating its long-term strategy for supplying late-stage
clinical and commercial ERT, which may include developing or in-licensing a recombinant alpha-Gal A enzyme comparable to JR-051.

 
Next-Generation ERT for Pompe Disease

 
We are utilizing our CHART platform in combination with our uniquely-engineered, proprietary recombinant human acid-alpha glucosidase (rhGAA,

designated AT-B200) to develop a next-generation ERT for Pompe disease. We are currently investigating AT-B200, with and without a pharmacological
chaperone, in preclinical studies.

 
We acquired AT-B200 as well as our enzyme targeting technology through our purchase of Callidus Biopharma. AT-B200 is differentiated from other

Pompe ERTs by its unique carbohydrate structure, and may be further optimized by applying our proprietary peptide tagging technology for better targeting.
AT-B200 may also deliver further benefits through co-formulation with a pharmacological chaperone.

 
We completed a Phase 2 safety and pharmacokinetics study (Study 010) that investigated single ascending oral doses of AT2220 (50 mg, 100 mg, 250 mg,

and 600 mg) co-administered with Myozyme® or Lumizyme® (alglucosidase alfa or recombinant human GAA enzyme, rhGAA), in patients with Pompe
disease. Each patient received one infusion of ERT alone, and then a single dose of AT2220 just prior to the next ERT infusion. Results from this study
showed an increase in GAA enzyme activity in plasma and muscle compared to ERT alone.

 
In preclinical studies, AT-B200 was shown to have superior uptake and activity in disease-relevant tissues that correlated with clearance of accumulated

glycogen substrate when compared to current standard of care. AT-B200 may be further improved through the application of the Company’s proprietary
conjugation technology to attach vIGF2 (a variant of the insulin like growth factor 2) to further enhance drug targeting. Preclinical results have shown that
AT-B200 and AT-B200 conjugated with vIGF-2 were better than Lumizyme for clearing glycogen in skeletal muscles in Gaa knock-out mice.

 
These results taken together with data from our clinical and preclinical studies of AT2220 in combination with ERT support our further development of a

next-generation ERT for Pompe disease.
 

Collaboration with GSK
 
In November 2013, we entered into the Revised Agreement with GSK, pursuant to which we have obtained global rights to develop and commercialize

migalastat as a monotherapy and in combination with ERT for Fabry disease. The Revised Agreement amends and replaces in its entirety the Expanded
Agreement entered into between Amicus and GSK in July 2012. Under the terms of the Revised Agreement, there is no upfront payment from Amicus to
GSK. For the next-generation Fabry ERT (migalastat co-formulated with ERT), GSK is eligible to receive single-digit royalties on net sales in eight major
markets outside the U.S. For migalastat monotherapy, GSK is eligible to receive post-approval and sales-based milestones, as well as tiered royalties in the
mid-teens in eight major markets outside the U.S. Under the Revised Agreement, Amicus received a settlement fee of $1.9 million to reimburse development
costs between November 19, 2013 and December 31, 2013, in December 2013, and $0.8 million for reimbursement of development costs for the period
August 1, 2013 to November 18, 2013 in January 2014, according to the earlier Expanded Agreement.

 



In November 2013, we entered into the 2013 SPA with GSK and certain entities controlled by Redmile Group, LLC for the private placement of a) shares
of our common stock and b) a combination of shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase shares of our common stock.  The warrants have a term
of one year and are exercisable between July 1, 2014 and June
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30, 2015 at an exercise price of $2.50 per share.  The aggregate offer proceeds were $15 million and GSK’s resulting equity stake in the Company was 17.6%
at March 31, 2014.

 
Collaboration with Biogen
 
In September 2013, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Biogen to discover, develop and commercialize novel small molecules for the

treatment of Parkinson’s disease. The collaboration will build upon preclinical studies at the Company and independent published research that suggest
increasing activity of the lysosomal enzyme glucocerobrosidase (“GCase”) in the brain may correct alpha-synuclein pathology and other deficits associated
with Parkinson’s disease. Under terms of the multi-year agreement, the Company and Biogen will collaborate in the discovery of a new class of small
molecules that target the GCase enzyme, for further development and commercialization by Biogen. Biogen will be responsible for funding all discovery,
development, and commercialization activities. In addition the Company will be reimbursed for all full-time employees working on the project. The Company
is also eligible to receive development and regulatory milestones, as well as modest royalties on global net sales.

 
Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc.
 
In November 2013, we entered into the Merger Agreement with Callidus, a privately held biotechnology company. Callidus was engaged in developing a

next-generation Pompe ERT and complementary enzyme targeting technologies.
 
In connection with our acquisition of Callidus, we agreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 million shares of our common stock to the former stockholders of

Callidus.  In addition, we will be obligated to make additional payments to the former stockholders of Callidus upon the achievement of certain clinical
milestones of up to $35 million and regulatory approval milestones of up to $105 million set forth in the merger agreement, provided that the aggregate
merger consideration shall not exceed $130 million. We may, at our election, satisfy certain milestone payments identified in the merger agreement
aggregating $40 million in shares of our common stock.  The milestone payments not permitted to be satisfied in common stock (as well as any payments that
we are permitted to, but chooses not to, satisfy in common stock), as a result of the terms of the merger agreement, will be paid in cash.

 
Other Potential Alliances and Collaborations
 
We continually evaluate other potential collaborations and business development opportunities that would bolster our ability to develop therapies for rare

and orphan diseases including licensing agreements and acquisitions of businesses and assets. We believe such opportunities may be important to the
advancement of our current product candidate pipeline, the expansion of the development of our current technology, gaining access to new technologies and
in our transformation from a development stage company to a commercial biotechnology company.

 
Financial Operations Overview
 

We have generated significant losses to date and expect to continue to generate losses as we continue the clinical and preclinical development of our drug
candidates. These activities are budgeted to expand over time and will require further resources if we are to be successful. From our inception in
February 2002 through March 31, 2014, we have accumulated a deficit of $394.5 million. As we have not yet generated commercial sales revenue from any
of our product candidates, our losses will continue and are likely to be substantial in the near term.

 
Revenue
 

Biogen
 

In September 2013, we entered into a collaboration with Biogen to discover, develop and commercialize novel small molecules for the treatment of
Parkinson’s disease. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, we recognized $0.5 million as Research Revenue for reimbursed research and development
costs.

 
GSK

 
Under the Original License and Collaboration Agreement, GSK paid us an initial, non-refundable license fee of $30 million and a premium of

$3.2 million related to GSK’s purchase of an equity investment in Amicus which was being recognized as Collaboration and Milestone Revenue on a straight-
line basis over the development period. In addition, in June 2012, we recognized a $3.5 million payment for a clinical development milestone as
Collaboration and Milestone Revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2012 we recognized $6.8 million as Collaboration and Milestone Revenue.
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The reimbursements for research and development costs under the Original License and Collaboration Agreement that met the criteria for revenue
recognition were recognized as Research Revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2012, we recognized $11.6 million as Research Revenue.

 
In July 2012, we entered into the Expanded Collaboration Agreement with GSK. Due to a change in the accounting for revenue recognition for the

Expanded Collaboration Agreement, all revenue recognition was suspended until the total arrangement consideration becomes fixed and determinable.
Beginning in July 2012, any payments received from GSK are recorded as deferred reimbursements on the balance sheet. In addition, future milestone
payments we may pay GSK will be applied against the balance of this deferred reimbursements account. Revenue recognition would resume once the total
arrangement consideration becomes fixed and determinable which would occur when the balance of the deferred reimbursements account is sufficient to



cover all the remaining contingent milestone payments due to GSK. As a result, we no longer recognize any revenue related to Collaboration and Milestone
Revenue or Research Revenue as of the date of the Expanded Collaboration Agreement. There is no cash effect of this change in accounting, and there is no
scenario where we would have to refund any of its upfront payments, milestone payments, or research reimbursement payments.

 
In November 2013, we entered into a Revised Agreement with GSK, which amended and replaced in its entirety the Expanded Collaboration

Agreement.  Although there were changes to the terms of the agreement, for accounting purposes, it remains substantively the same. As such the accounting
policy determined for the Expanded Agreement continued to be applied in the Revised Agreement for both the research and development reimbursements and
the contingent milestone payments. Similar to our evaluations under the Expanded Agreement, any payments received from GSK are recorded as deferred
reimbursements on the balance sheet and any future contingent payments to GSK under the Revised Agreement would be recorded against the deferred
reimbursement account. GSK will no longer jointly fund development costs for all formulations of migalastat as a result of the Revised Agreement.

 
Research and Development Expenses
 

We expect to continue to incur substantial research and development expenses as we continue to develop our product candidates and explore new uses for
our pharmacological chaperone technology.  Research and development expense consists of:

 
·                  internal costs associated with our research and clinical development activities;
·                  payments we make to third party contract research organizations, contract manufacturers, investigative sites, and consultants;
·                  technology license costs;
·                  manufacturing development costs;
·                  personnel related expenses, including salaries, benefits, travel, and related costs for the personnel involved in drug discovery and development;
·                  activities relating to regulatory filings and the advancement of our product candidates through preclinical studies and clinical trials; and
·                  facilities and other allocated expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent, facility maintenance, as well as laboratory and other

supplies.
 

We have multiple research and development projects ongoing at any one time.  We utilize our internal resources, employees and infrastructure across
multiple projects.  We record and maintain information regarding external, out-of-pocket research and development expenses on a project specific basis.

 
We expense research and development costs as incurred, including payments made to date under our license agreements.  We believe that significant

investment in product development is a competitive necessity and plan to continue these investments in order to realize the potential of our product
candidates.  From our inception in February 2002 through March 31, 2014, we have incurred research and development expense in the aggregate of $367.8
million.
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The following table summarizes our principal product development programs, including the related stages of development for each product candidate in
development, and the out-of-pocket, third party expenses incurred with respect to each product candidate (in thousands).
 
      

Period from
 

      
February 4, 2002

 

  
Three Months Ended

 
(inception) to

 

  
March 31,

 
March 31,

 

Projects
 

2013
 

2014
 

2014
 

Third party direct project expenses
       

Monotherapy Studies
       

Migalastat HCl (Fabry Disease — Phase 3)
 

$ 2,342
 

$ 2,914
 

$ 91,944
 

Afegostat tartrate (Gaucher Disease — Phase 2*)
 

30
 

6
 

26,387
 

AT2220 (Pompe Disease — Phase 2)
 

—
 

—
 

13,252
 

Combination Studies
       

Migalastat HCl Co-Administration (Fabry Disease — Phase 2)
 

445
 

6
 

3,970
 

Migalastat HCl Co-Formulation (Fabry Disease — Preclinical)
 

76
 

167
 

710
 

Afegostat tartrate Co-Administration (Gaucher Disease — Preclinical)
 

21
 

—
 

55
 

AT2220 Co-Administration (Pompe Disease — Phase 2)
 

1,097
 

10
 

7,541
 

AT2220 Co- Formulation (Pompe Disease — Preclinical)
 

109
 

966
 

1,311
 

Neurodegenerative Diseases (Preclinical)
 

14
 

49
 

9,219
 

Total third party direct project expenses
 

4,134
 

4,118
 

154,389
 

        
Other project costs (1)

       

Personnel costs
 

5,888
 

4,294
 

138,888
 

Other costs (2)
 

1,967
 

1,580
 

74,552
 

Total other project costs
 

7,855
 

5,874
 

213,440
 

        
Total research and development costs

 

$ 11,989
 

$ 9,992
 

$ 367,829
 

 

(1) Other project costs are leveraged across multiple projects.
(2) Other costs include facility, supply, overhead, and licensing costs that support multiple projects.
*    We do not plan to advance afegostat tartrate monotherapy program into Phase 3 development at this time.
 

The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain.  At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the nature, timing and
costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the remainder of the development of our product candidates.  As a result, we are not able to reasonably
estimate the period, if any, in which material net cash inflows may commence from our product candidates, including migalastat or any of our other
preclinical product candidates.  This uncertainty is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the conduct, duration and cost of clinical trials,
which vary significantly over the life of a project as a result of evolving events during clinical development, including:



 
·                  the number of clinical sites included in the trials;
·                  the length of time required to enroll suitable patients;
·                  the number of patients that ultimately participate in the trials;
·                  the results of our clinical trials; and
·                  any mandate by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or other regulatory authority to conduct clinical trials beyond those currently

anticipated.
 

Our expenditures are subject to additional uncertainties, including the terms and timing of regulatory approvals, and the expense of filing, prosecuting,
defending and enforcing any patent claims or other intellectual property rights.  We may obtain unexpected results from our clinical trials.  We may elect to
discontinue, delay or modify clinical trials of some product candidates or focus on others.  A change in the outcome of any of the foregoing variables with
respect to the development of a product candidate could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the development, regulatory
approval and commercialization of that product candidate.  For example, if the FDA or other regulatory authorities were to require us to
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conduct clinical trials beyond those which we currently anticipate, or if we experience significant delays in enrollment in any of our clinical trials, we could
be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development.  Drug development may take several
years and millions of dollars in development costs.
 
General and Administrative Expense
 

General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and other related costs, including stock-based compensation expense, for persons
serving in our executive, finance, accounting, legal, information technology and human resource functions.  Other general and administrative expense
includes facility-related costs not otherwise included in research and development expense, promotional expenses, costs associated with industry and trade
shows, and professional fees for legal services, including patent-related expense and accounting services.  From our inception in February 2002 through
March 31, 2014, we spent $156.7 million on general and administrative expense.

 
Interest Income and Interest Expense
 

Interest income consists of interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities.  Interest expense consists of interest incurred on
our equipment financing agreement.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
 

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which we have prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as
the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those described in
greater detail below.  We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

 
While there were no significant changes during the quarter ended March 31, 2014 to the items that we disclosed as our significant accounting policies

and estimates described in Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements as contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013, we believe that the following accounting policies are the most critical to aid you in fully understanding and evaluating our financial
condition and results of operations.

 
Revenue Recognition
 

We recognize revenue when amounts are realized or realizable and earned.  Revenue is considered realizable and earned when the following criteria are
met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the price is fixed or determinable; and
(4) collection of the amounts due are reasonably assured.

 
In multiple element arrangements, revenue is allocated to each separate unit of accounting and each deliverable in an arrangement is evaluated to

determine whether it represents separate units of accounting. A deliverable constitutes a separate unit of accounting when it has standalone value and there is
no general right of return for the delivered elements. In instances when the aforementioned criteria are not met, the deliverable is combined with the
undelivered elements and the allocation of the arrangement consideration and revenue recognition is determined for the combined unit as a single unit of
accounting. Allocation of the consideration is determined at arrangement inception on the basis of each unit’s relative selling price. In instances where there is
determined to be a single unit of accounting, the total consideration is applied as revenue for the single unit of accounting and is recognized over the period of
inception through the date where the last deliverable within the single unit of accounting is expected to be delivered.

 
Our current revenue recognition policies, which were applied in fiscal 2010, provide that, when a collaboration arrangement contains multiple

deliverables, such as license and research and development services, we allocate revenue to each separate unit of accounting based on a selling price
hierarchy. The selling price hierarchy for a deliverable is based on: (i) its vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) if available, (ii) third party evidence
(TPE) if VSOE is not available, or (iii) best estimated selling price (BESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. We would establish the VSOE of selling
price using the price charged for a deliverable when sold separately. The TPE of selling price would be established by evaluating largely similar and
interchangeable competitor products or services in standalone sales to similarly situated customers. The BESP would be established considering internal
factors such as an internal pricing analysis or an income approach using a discounted cash flow model.
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We also consider the impact of potential future payments we make in our role as a vendor to our customers and evaluate if these potential future
payments could be a reduction of revenue from that customer. If the potential future payments to the customer are:

 
·                  a payment for an identifiable benefit, and
 
·                  the identifiable benefit is separable from the existing relationship between us and our customer, and

 
·                  the identifiable benefit can be obtained from a party other than the customer, and
 
·                  the fair value of the identifiable benefit can be reasonably estimated,
 

then the payments are accounted for separately from the revenue received from that customer. If, however, all these criteria are not satisfied, then the
payments are treated as a reduction of revenue from that customer.
 

If we determine that any potential future payments to our customers are to be considered as a reduction of revenue, we must evaluate if the total amount
of revenue to be received under the arrangement is fixed and determinable. If the total amount of revenue is not fixed and determinable due to the uncertain
nature of the potential future payments to the customer, then any customer payments cannot be recognized as revenue until the total arrangement
consideration becomes fixed and determinable.

 
The reimbursements for research and development costs under collaboration agreements that meet the criteria for revenue recognition are included in

Research Revenue and the costs associated with these reimbursable amounts are included in research and development expenses.
 
In order to determine the revenue recognition for contingent milestones, we evaluate the contingent milestones using the criteria as provided by the

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) guidance on the milestone method of revenue recognition at the inception of a collaboration agreement. The
criteria requires that: (i) we determine if the milestone is commensurate with either our performance to achieve the milestone or the enhancement of value
resulting from our activities to achieve the milestone, (ii) the milestone be related to past performance, and (iii) the milestone be reasonable relative to all
deliverable and payment terms of the collaboration arrangement. If these criteria are met then the contingent milestones can be considered as substantive
milestones and will be recognized as revenue in the period that the milestone is achieved.

 
Business Combinations
 

We allocate the purchase price of acquired businesses to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair
values on the acquisition date. The purchase price allocation process requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the
acquisition date with respect to intangible assets and in-process research and development (IPR&D). In connection with the purchase price allocations for
acquisitions, we estimate the fair value of contingent acquisition consideration payments utilizing a probability-based income approach inclusive of an
estimated discount rate.

 
Although we believe the assumptions and estimates made are reasonable, they are based in part on historical experience and information obtained from

the management of the acquired businesses and are inherently uncertain. Examples of critical estimates in valuing any contingent acquisition consideration
issued or which may be issued and the intangible assets we have acquired or may acquire in the future include but are not limited to:

 
·                  the feasibility and timing of achievement of development, regulatory and commercial milestones;
 
·                  expected costs to develop the in-process research and development into commercially viable products; and
 
·                  future expected cash flows from product sales.
 

Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual results.
 

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
 

We record goodwill in a business combination when the total consideration exceeds the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired. Purchased in-process research and development is accounted for as an indefinite lived intangible asset until the underlying project is completed, at
which point the intangible asset will be accounted for as a definite lived intangible asset, or abandoned, at which point the intangible asset will be written off
or partially impaired. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are assessed annually for impairment on October 1 and whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If it is determined that the full carrying amount of an asset is not
recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.
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Valuation of Contingent Consideration Payable
 

Each period we reassess the fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration payable associated with certain acquisitions and record changes in the
fair value as contingent consideration expense. Increases or decreases in the fair value of the contingent acquisition consideration payable can result from
changes in estimated probability adjustments with respect to regulatory approval, changes in the assumed timing of when milestones are likely to be achieved
and changes in assumed discount periods and rates. Significant judgment is employed in determining the appropriateness of these assumptions each period.
Accordingly, future business and economic conditions, as well as changes in any of the assumptions described in the accounting for business combinations
above can materially impact the amount of contingent consideration expense that we record in any given period.

 
Accrued Expenses
 



When we are required to estimate accrued expenses because we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual cost, we identify services that
have been performed on our behalf and estimate the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred.  The majority of our service providers
invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed.  We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements
based on facts and circumstances known to us.  Examples of estimated accrued expenses include:

 
·                  fees owed to contract research organizations in connection with preclinical and toxicology studies and clinical trials;
 
·                  fees owed to investigative sites in connection with clinical trials;
 
·                  fees owed to contract manufacturers in connection with the production of clinical trial materials;
 
·                  fees owed for professional services, and
 
·                  unpaid salaries, wages and benefits.
 

Stock-Based Compensation
 

In accordance with the applicable guidance, we measure stock-based compensation at a fair value which is determined by measuring the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based upon the grant date fair value of the award. We chose the “straight-line”
attribution method for allocating compensation costs and recognized the fair value of each stock option on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the
related awards.

 
We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model when estimating the value for stock-based awards. Use of a valuation model requires management to

make certain assumptions with respect to selected model inputs. Expected volatility was calculated based on a blended weighted average of historical
information of our stock and the weighted average of historical information of similar public entities for which historical information was available. We will
continue to use a blended weighted average approach using our own historical volatility and other similar public entity volatility information until our
historical volatility is relevant to measure expected volatility for future option grants. The average expected life was determined using a “simplified” method
of estimating the expected exercise term which is the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. As our stock price volatility has
been over 75% and we have experienced significant business transactions, we believe that we do not have sufficient reliable exercise data in order to justify a
change from the use of the “simplified” method of estimating the expected exercise term of employee stock option grants. The risk-free interest rate is based
on U.S. Treasury, zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected life assumed at the date of grant. Forfeitures are estimated based on
expected turnover as well as a historical analysis of actual option forfeitures.

 
The following table summarizes information related to stock compensation expense recognized in the statements of operations (in thousands):

 
  

Three Months Ended March 31,
 

  
2013

 
2014

 

Stock compensation expense recognized in:
     

Research and development expense
 

$ 924
 

$ 550
 

General and administrative expense
 

650
 

710
 

Total stock compensation expense
 

$ 1,574
 

$ 1,260
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The weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model are as follows:
 

  

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

  
2013

 
2014

 

Expected stock price volatility
 

82.0% 81.4%
Risk free interest rate

 

1.2% 2.0%
Expected life of options (years)

 

6.25
 

6.25
 

Expected annual dividend per share
 

$ 0.00
 

$ 0.00
 

 
Warrants
 

The warrants issued in connection with the March 2010 registered direct offering were being classified as a liability.  The fair value of the warrants
liability was evaluated at each balance sheet date using the Black-Scholes valuation model.  Any changes in the fair value of the warrants liability was being
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.  The warrants expired on March 2, 2014 and hence the warrant liability is no longer recognized on the
Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2014.
 
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common Stockholders per Common Share
 

We calculated net loss per share as a measurement of the Company’s performance while giving effect to all dilutive potential common shares that were
outstanding during the reporting period.  We had a net loss for all periods presented; accordingly, the inclusion of common stock options and warrants would
be anti-dilutive.  Therefore, the weighted average shares used to calculate both basic and diluted earnings per share are the same.

 
The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in computing basic and diluted net loss attributable to common

stockholders per common share and pro forma net loss attributable to common stockholders per common share:
 
  

Three Months Ended
 

  
March 31,

 

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
 

2013
 

2014
 

Historical
     

Numerator:
     
 



Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (17,458) $ (15,943)
      
Denominator:

     

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted
 

49,621,188
 

64,353,952
 

 
Dilutive common stock equivalents would include the dilutive effect of common stock options and warrants for common stock equivalents.  Potentially

dilutive common stock equivalents totaled approximately 10.5 million and 11.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. 
Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents were excluded from the diluted earnings per share denominator for all periods because of their anti-dilutive
effect.

 
Results of Operations
 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2013
 
Revenue. In September 2013, we entered into collaboration with Biogen to discover, develop and commercialize novel small molecules for the treatment

of Parkinson’s disease. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, we recognized $0.5 million as Research Revenue for reimbursed research and
development costs.

 
Under the Original License and Collaboration Agreement, GSK paid us an initial, non-refundable license fee of $30 million and a premium of

$3.2 million related to GSK’s purchase of an equity investment in Amicus which was being recognized as Collaboration and Milestone Revenue on a straight-
line basis over the development period until entry into the Expanded Collaboration Agreement. Due to a change in the accounting for revenue recognition for
the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, all revenue recognition related to the collaboration will be suspended until the total arrangement consideration
becomes fixed and determinable. Any payments received from GSK will be recorded as deferred reimbursements on the balance sheet. In addition,
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future milestone payments we may pay GSK will be applied against the balance of this deferred reimbursements account. Revenue recognition would resume
once the total arrangement consideration becomes fixed and determinable which would occur when the balance of the deferred reimbursements account is
sufficient to cover all the remaining contingent milestone payments. As a result, we no longer recognize any revenue related to Collaboration and Milestone
Revenue or Research Revenue as of the date of the Expanded Collaboration Agreement. There is no cash effect of this change in accounting, and there is no
scenario where Amicus would have to refund any of the upfront payment, milestone payments, or research reimbursement payments. We have not generated
any commercial sales revenue since our inception.  We have received cash payments from GSK related to the research reimbursement of $3.2 million and
$0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

 
Research and Development Expense. Research and development expense was $10.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014, representing a

decrease of $2.0 million or 16.7% from $12.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013.  The change was primarily due to a decrease in personnel
costs of $1.6 million and contract research of $0.9 million, which was partially offset by contract manufacturing increasing by $0.7 million arising from the
timing of studies and changes in research plans. Project related expenses included decreases of $1.1 million in the Pompe AT2220 co-administration study
and $0.4 million in the Fabry migalastat co-administration were partially offset by increases of $0.9 million in Pompe AT2220 co-formulation and $0.6
million in Fabry migalastat.

 
General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense was $5.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014, representing an

increase of $0.4 million or 8.3% from $4.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013.  The variance was primarily due to higher general legal fees
and higher consulting fees.

 
Changes in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration Payable. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, we recorded charges of $0.5 million

representing an increase in fair value of contingent consideration payable, which was related to the Callidus acquisition.
 
Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges were recorded in 2013 due to the corporate restructuring implemented in the fourth quarter of 2013. For the

three months ended March 31, 2014, we recorded an $8 thousand adjustment to the liability to reflect the change in fair value of the net future discounted cash
flow of the San Diego office lease.

 
Interest Income and Interest Expense. Interest income was $42 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2014, representing a decrease of $23

thousand or 35.4% from $65 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2013.  The decrease in interest income was due to the overall lower average cash
and investment balances.  Interest expense was approximately $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 compared to $10 thousand for the
three months ended March 31, 2013. Interest expense was higher due to the $15 million loan secured in December 2013. Interest expense for the three months
on this loan was $0.4 million, which also included $42 thousand in amortized debt discount and $6 thousand in amortized deferred financing.  This was offset
by reduced interest charges on the 6.5% SVB loan due to lower outstanding balance.

 
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability.  In connection with the sale of our common stock and warrants from the registered direct offering in

March 2010, we recorded the warrants as a liability at their fair value using a Black-Scholes model and remeasure the fair value at each reporting date until
exercised or expired. Changes in the fair value of the warrants are reported in the statements of operations as non-operating income or expense. For the three
months ended March 31, 2014, the warrants expired and resulted in a deminimis expense as compared to an expense of $0.3 million related to the increase in
fair value of these warrants for the three months ended March 31, 2013.

 
Other Income/Expense.  Other Income/ expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2014 included charges of $9 thousand for increase in the fair

value of the success fee payable, which was related to the $15 million secured loan in 2013.There was no other income/expense for the three months ended
March 31, 2013.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Source of Liquidity
 
In March 2014, we entered into the Sales Agreement with Cowen to create an ATM equity program under which the Company from time to time may

offer and sell ATM Shares through Cowen. Upon delivery of a placement notice and subject to the terms and conditions of the ATM agreement, Cowen will
use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell the Shares from time to time. We will pay Cowen a commission at a fixed commission rate of up to 3.0% of the
gross proceeds per ATM Share sold. Sales of the ATM Shares, if any, under the Agreement may be made in transactions that are deemed to be “at the market
offerings” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including sales made by means of ordinary brokers’ transactions, including
on The NASDAQ Global Market, at market prices or as otherwise agreed with the Agent. We have no obligation to sell any of the Shares, and may at any
time suspend offers under the Agreement or terminate the Agreement. Since the inception of the ATM agreement and through March 31, 2014, we have not
sold any shares of common stock under the ATM agreement.

 
As a result of our significant research and development expenditures and the lack of any approved products to generate product sales revenue, we have

not been profitable and have generated operating losses since we were incorporated in 2002. We have funded our operations principally with $148.7 million
of proceeds from redeemable convertible preferred stock offerings, $75.0 million of gross proceeds from our IPO in June 2007, $18.5 million of gross
proceeds from our Registered Direct Offering in March 2010, $65.6 million of gross proceeds from our stock offering in March 2012, $52.9 million from
GSK’s investments in the Company in October 2010, July 2012 and November 2013, and $80.0 million from non-refundable license fees from collaborations.
The following table summarizes our significant funding sources as of March 31, 2014:

 
      

Approximate
 

      
Amount (1)

 

Funding (2)
 

Year
 

No. Shares
 

(in thousands)
 

        
Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

 

2002
 

444,443
 

$ 2,500
 

Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
 

2004, 2005, 2006, 2007
 

4,917,853
 

31,189
 

Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
 

2005, 2006
 

5,820,020
 

54,999
 

Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
 

2006, 2007
 

4,930,405
 

60,000
 

Common Stock
 

2007
 

5,000,000
 

75,000
 

Upfront License Fee from Shire
 

2007
 

—
 

50,000
 

Registered Direct Offering
 

2010
 

4,946,524
 

18,500
 

Upfront License Fee from GSK
 

2010
 

—
 

30,000
 

Common Stock — GSK Purchase
 

2010
 

6,866,245
 

31,285
 

Common Stock
 

2012
 

11,500,000
 

65,550
 

Common Stock — GSK Purchase
 

2012
 

2,949,581
 

18,582
 

Common Stock- Private Investment in Public Entity
 

2013
 

7,500,000
 

15,000
 

        
    

54,875,071
 

$ 452,605
 

 

(1)                       Represents gross proceeds
 
(2)                       The Series A, B, C and D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock was converted to common stock upon the effectiveness of our IPO
 
In addition, we have received reimbursement of research and development expenditures from GSK beginning with entry into the Original Collaboration

Agreement (October 28, 2010) through March 31, 2014 of $33.0 million.  We also received $31.1million in reimbursement of research and development
expenditures from the Shire collaboration from the date of the agreement (November 7, 2007) through year-end 2009.  In December 2013 we entered into a
credit and security agreement with a lending syndicate which provides an aggregate of $25 million.  We drew $15 million of the aggregate principal amount
in December 2013.

 
As of March 31, 2014, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $71.6 million.  We invest cash in excess of our immediate

requirements with regard to liquidity and capital preservation in a variety of interest-bearing instruments, including
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obligations of U.S. government agencies and money market accounts.  Wherever possible, we seek to minimize the potential effects of concentration and
degrees of risk.  Although we maintain cash balances with financial institutions in excess of insured limits, we do not anticipate any losses with respect to
such cash balances.

 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
 
Net cash used in operations for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $13.9 million, due primarily to the net loss for the three months ended

March 31, 2013 of $17.5 million and the change in operating assets and liabilities of $1.3 million. The change in operating assets and liabilities consisted of a
decrease in receivables from GSK related to the collaboration agreement of $1.9 million; a decrease of $0.5 million in prepaid assets primarily related to
interest receivable from investments; an increase in deferred revenue of $1.3 million related to the recognition of the upfront payment from GSK for the
collaboration agreement and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.4 million related to program expenses.

 
Net cash used in operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was $10.2 million, due primarily to the net loss for the three months ended

March 31, 2014 of $15.9 million and the change in operating assets and liabilities of $3.5 million. The change in operating assets and liabilities consisted of a
decrease in receivables from GSK related to the collaboration agreement of $0.7 million; a decrease of $3.8 million in prepaid assets primarily related to Net
Operating Loss (“NOL”) receivable; a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1.0 million related to program expenses.



 
Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Investing Activities
 
Net cash provided by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $6.8 million.  Net cash provided by investing activities reflects

$34.1 million from the sale and redemption of marketable securities, partially offset by $27.0 million for the purchase of marketable securities and
$0.4 million for the acquisition of property and equipment.

 
Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was $5.8 million.  Net cash used in investing activities reflects

$17.2 million for the purchase of marketable securities and $40 thousand for the acquisition of property and equipment, partially offset by $11.5 million from
the sale and redemption of marketable securities.

 
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
 
Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $0.1 million for the payments of our secured loan agreement. Net

cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was $0.1 million for the payments of our secured loan agreement, partially offset
by $15 thousand in proceeds from exercise of options.

 
Funding Requirements
 

We expect to incur losses from operations for the foreseeable future primarily due to research and development expenses, including expenses related to
conducting clinical trials.  Our future capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including:

·                  the progress and results of our clinical trials of our drug candidates, including migalastat;
·                  the cost of manufacturing drug supply for our clinical and preclinical studies, including the significant cost of ERT cell line development and

manufacturing as well as the cost of manufacturing the vIGF-2 peptide tag;
·                  the scope, progress, results and costs of preclinical development, laboratory testing and clinical trials for our product candidates including those

testing the use of pharmacological chaperones co-formulated and co-administered with ERT and for the treatment of lysosomal storage diseases;
·                  the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;
·                  the number and development requirements of other product candidates that we pursue;
·                  the costs of commercialization activities, including product marketing, sales and distribution;
·                  the emergence of competing technologies and other adverse market developments;
·                  the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining, enforcing and defending intellectual property related claims;
·                  the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products or technologies;
·                  our ability to successfully incorporate Callidus and its product candidates and technology into our business; and
·                  our ability to establish collaborations and obtain milestone, royalty or other payments from any such collaborators.
 
We do not anticipate that we will generate revenue from commercial sales until at least 2015, if at all.  In the absence of additional funding, we expect our

continuing operating losses to result in increases in our cash used in operations over the next
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several quarters and years. We may seek additional funding through public or private financings of debt or equity, including, but not limited to, sales under
our ATM agreement with Cowen. For example, in March 2014 we entered into an agreement with Cowen pursuant to which, from time to time, we may offer
and sell up to $40 million of common stock through Cowen pursuant to one or more “at the market” offerings.  We believe that our existing cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to cover our cash flow requirements into the second half of 2015.

 
Financial Uncertainties Related to Potential Future Payments
 
Milestone Payments
 
We have acquired rights to develop and commercialize our product candidates through licenses granted by various parties. While our license agreements

for migalastat and AT2220 do not contain milestone payment obligations, two of these agreements related to afegostat tartrate do require us to make such
payments if certain specified pre-commercialization events occur. Upon the satisfaction of certain milestones and assuming successful development of
afegostat tartrate, we may be obligated, under the agreements that we have in place, to make future milestone payments aggregating up to approximately
$7.9 million. However, such potential milestone payments are subject to many uncertain variables that would cause such payments, if any, to vary in size.

 
Under the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, GSK is eligible to receive U.S. regulatory approval milestones totaling $20 million for migalastat

monotherapy and migalastat ERT co-administration, and additional regulatory approval and product launch milestone payments totaling up to $35 million
within seven years following the launch of the Co-formulated Product. We will also be responsible for certain pass-through milestone payments and single-
digit royalties on the net U.S. sales of the Co-formulated Product that GSK must pay to a third party. In addition, we are no longer eligible to receive any
milestones or royalties we would have been eligible to receive under the Original Collaboration Agreement other than a $3.5 million clinical development
milestone achieved in the second quarter of 2012 and paid by GSK to us in the third quarter of 2012.

 
Royalties
 
Under our license agreements, if we owe royalties on net sales for one of our products to more than one licensor, then we have the right to reduce the

royalties owed to one licensor for royalties paid to another. The amount of royalties to be offset is generally limited in each license and can vary under each
agreement. For migalastat and AT2220, we will owe royalties only to Mt. Sinai School of Medicine (MSSM). We would expect to pay royalties to all three
licensors with respect to afegostat tartrate should we advance it to commercialization. To date, we have not made any royalty payments on sales of our
products and believe we are at least a couple years away from selling any products that would require us to make any such royalty payments.

 
In accordance with our license agreement with MSSM, in the third quarter of 2012, we paid $0.4 million of the $3.5 million milestone payment received

from GSK to MSSM. In the fourth quarter of 2010, we paid $3 million of the $30 million upfront payment received from GSK to MSSM. We will also be
obligated to pay MSSM royalties on worldwide net sales of migalastat.



 
Whether we will be obligated to make milestone or royalty payments in the future is subject to the success of our product development efforts and,

accordingly, is inherently uncertain.
 

ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

Market risk is the risk of change in fair value of a financial instrument due to changes in interest rates, equity prices, creditworthiness, financing,
exchange rates or other factors. Our primary market risk exposure relates to changes in interest rates in our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. 
We place our investments in high-quality financial instruments, primarily money market funds, corporate debt securities, asset backed securities and
U.S. government agency notes with maturities of less than one year, which we believe are subject to limited interest rate and credit risk.  The securities in our
investment portfolio are not leveraged, are classified as available-for-sale and, due to the short-term nature, are subject to minimal interest rate risk.  We
currently do not hedge interest rate exposure and consistent with our investment policy, we do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment
portfolio.  At March 31, 2014, we held $71.6 million in cash, cash equivalents and available for sale securities and due to the short-term maturities of our
investments, we do not believe that a 10% change in average interest rates would have a significant impact on the fair value of our investments.  Our
outstanding debt has a fixed interest rate and therefore, we have no exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

 
We have operated primarily in the U.S., although we do conduct some clinical activities outside the U.S.  While most expenses are paid in U.S. dollars,

there are minimal payments made in local foreign currency.  If exchange rates undergo a change of 10%, we do not believe that it would have a material
impact on our results of operations or cash flows.

 
37

Table of Contents
 

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
(pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) was carried out under the
supervision of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, with the participation of our management.  Based on that evaluation, the
Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of such period, our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act and are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

 
During the fiscal quarter covered by this report, there has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-

15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 
PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.
 

ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS
 

There have been no material changes with respect to the Risk Factors disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2013.

 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 

None.
 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

The Company did not purchase any shares of its common stock for the three months ended March 31, 2014.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 

None.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 

None.
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
 

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 
Exhibit
Number

 
Description

   
3.1 (1)

 

Restated Certificate of Incorporation
   
3.2 (2)

 

Amended and Restated By-laws
   
10.1(3)

 

Separation Agreement by and among Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Dr. David J.Lockhart, dated as of January 3, 2014.
   
10.2(4)

 

Sales Agreement dated March 4, 2014 between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC
   
10.3(5)

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and John F. Crowley
   
10.4(6)

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and William D. Baird, III
   
10.5(7)

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Bradley L. Campbell
   
10.6

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Jay Barth, M.D.
   
10.7

 

Letter Agreement dated April 24, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Julie Yu
   
10.8

 

Letter Agreement dated April 30, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Daphne Quimi
   
31.1

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended

   
31.2

 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended

   
32.1*

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
101

 

The following financial information from this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2014, formatted
in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) and filed electronically herewith: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows; (v) and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 

(1)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10K filed on February 28, 2012.
   
(2)

 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1.
   
(3)

 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.0 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 8, 2014.
   
(4)

 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 4, 2014.
   
(5)

 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2014.
   
(6)

 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2014.
   
(7)

 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2014.
   
*

 

These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this quarterly report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are not being filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc., whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
 

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.
  
Date: May 5, 2014 By: /s/ John F. Crowley
  

John F. Crowley
  

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  

(Principal Executive Officer)
   



Date: May 5, 2014 By: /s/ William D. Baird III
  

William D. Baird III
  

Chief Financial Officer
  

(Principal Financial Officer)
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
 
Exhibit
Number

 
Description

   
3.1 (1)

 

Restated Certificate of Incorporation
   
3.2 (2)

 

Amended and Restated By-laws
   
10.1(3)

 

Separation Agreement by and among Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Dr. David J.Lockhart, dated as of January 3, 2014.
   
10.2(4)

 

Sales Agreement dated March 4, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC
   
10.3(5)

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and John F. Crowley
   
10.4(6)

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and William D. Baird, III
   
10.5(7)

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Bradley L. Campbell
   
10.6

 

Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Jay Barth, M.D.
   
10.7

 

Letter Agreement dated April 24, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Julie Yu
   
10.8

 

Letter Agreement dated April 30, 2014, between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Daphne Quimi
   
31.1

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended

   
31.2

 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended

   
32.1*

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

   
101

 

The following financial information from this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2014, formatted
in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) and filed electronically herewith: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows; (v) and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 

(1)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10K filed on February 28, 2012.
   

(2)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1.
   

(3)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.0 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 8, 2014.
   

(4)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 4, 2014.
   

(5)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2014.
   

(6)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2014.
   

(7)
 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2014.
   
*

 

These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this quarterly report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are not being filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc., whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
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Exhibit 10.6
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of April 23, 2014 (the “Effective Date”), between AMICUS
THERAPEUTICS, INC., a Delaware corporation having an office at 1 Cedar Brook Drive, Cranbury, New Jersey 08512 (the “Company”), and JAY BARTH,
an individual residing at 550 Warwick Avenue, Teaneck, NJ 07666 (“Employee”).

 
PREAMBLE

 
WHEREAS, the Company wishes to continue to employ Employee as Chief Medical Officer of the Company, and Employee wishes to continue to

serve as the Chief Medical Officer;
 

WHEREAS, the parties to the Agreement wish to revise Employee’s terms of employment that had previously set forth the terms of Employee’s
employment under an Offer Letter between the Company and Employee dated December 3, 2013 (the “Offer Letter”).

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency

and receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

Section 1. Definitions . Unless otherwise defined herein, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:
 
“Cause “ means for any of the following reasons: (i) willful or deliberate misconduct by Employee that materially damages the Company;

(ii) misappropriation of Company assets; (in) Employee’s conviction of or a plea of guilty or “no contest” to, a felony; or (iv) any willful disobedience of the
lawful and unambiguous instructions of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “CEO”); provided that the CEO has given Employee written notice
of such disobedience or neglect and Employee has failed to cure such disobedience or neglect within a period reasonable under the circumstances. For
avoidance of doubt, a termination of Employee’s employment hereunder due to Employee’s Disability (as defined below) will not constitute a termination
without Cause.

 
“Change in Control Event “ means any of the following (i) any person or entity (except for a current stockholder who was a stockholder) becomes

the beneficial owner of greater than 50% of the then outstanding voting power of the Company; (ii) a merger or consolidation with another entity where the
voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately before the transaction constitute less than a majority of the voting power of the voting securities of
the Company or the surviving entity outstanding immediately after the transaction, or (iii) the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s
assets.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no event shall be deemed to be a Change in Control Event unless such event would also be a Change in Control under
Code Section 409A or would otherwise be a permitted distribution event under Code Section 409A.

 
“Good Reason “ means (i) a material diminution in Employee’s authority, duties, or responsibilities, or (ii) a material change in the geographic

location at which Employee must perform services, in each case without Employee’s consent. Employee must provide the Company with notice of the Good
Reason condition within ninety (90) days of its initial existence, the Company shall have a period of thirty (30) days within which it may remedy the
condition and such event would not be considered Good Reason, and any Good Reason termination (for an event that is uncured) must occur within two
(2) years of the initial existence of the Good Reason condition.

 
Section 2. Employment .

 
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Employee continues to be employed by the Company as its Chief Medical Officer.

Employee continues to accept such employment, and agrees to discharge all of the duties normally associated with said positions, to faithfully and to the best
of his
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abilities perform such other services consistent with his position as a senior executive officer as may from time to time be assigned to him by the CEO or the
Board of Directors of the Company and to devote all of his business time, skill and attention to such services.

 
Section 3. Compensation and Benefits .

 
3.1 Base Salary . During the Employment Term (as defined in Section 4 hereof), the Company shall pay Employee a salary at the annual rate of

$400,000 or such greater amount as the Company’s Board of Directors or a committee thereof may from time to time establish pursuant to the terms hereof
(the “Base Salary”). Such Base Salary shall be reviewed annually and may be increased, but not decreased, by the Company’s Board of Directors or a
committee thereof in its sole discretion. The Base Salary shall be payable in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices for its senior
management personnel.

 
3.2 Bonus . During the Employment Term, Employee shall be eligible to participate in the Company’s bonus programs in effect with respect to

senior management personnel. Employee shall be eligible to receive an annual target bonus of up to 40% of the Base Salary in cash (the “Bonus”). Any
Bonus payment to which Employee becomes entitled hereunder shall be paid to Employee in a lump sum on or before the 15  day of the third month
following the end of the calendar year in which the Bonus was earned.

 
3.3 Benefits

 
(a)  Benefit Plans . During the Employment Term, Employee may participate, on the same basis and subject to the same qualifications as

other senior management personnel of the Company, in any benefit plans (including health and medical insurance of Employee, Employee’s spouse and
Employee’s dependents) and policies in effect with respect to senior management personnel of the Company, including any equity plan.

 
(b)  Reimbursement of Expenses . During the Employment Term, the Company shall pay or promptly reimburse Employee, upon submission

of proper invoices in accordance with the Company’s normal procedures, for all reasonable out-of-pocket business, entertainment and travel expenses
incurred by Employee in the performance of his duties hereunder. Any taxable reimbursement of business or other expenses as specified under this Amended
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Agreement shall be subject to the following conditions: (1) the expenses eligible for reimbursement in one taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible
for reimbursement in any other taxable year; (2) the reimbursement of an eligible expense shall be made no later than the end of the calendar year after the
year in which such expense was incurred; and (3) the right to reimbursement shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

 
(c)  Vacation . During the Employment Term, Employee shall be entitled to vacation in accordance with the policies of the Company

applicable to senior management personnel from time to time.  Additionally, during the Employment Term, Employee will also be eligible for an unlimited
amount of religious holidays, taken in Employee’s discretion.

 
(e)  Withholding . The Company shall be entitled to withhold from amounts payable or benefits accorded to Employee under this Agreement

all federal, state and local income, employment and other taxes, as and in such amounts as may be required by applicable law.
 

(f) Sign-on Bonus Repayment.  Employee acknowledges that Employee has received a sign-on bonus of $136,000 upon commencement of
Employee’s employment.  Pursuant to the terms under which Employee received such amount, Employee is required to repay the Company the full amount of
the sign-on bonus, if Employee resigns prior to the six month anniversary of Employee’s commencement of employment.

 
Section 4. Employment Term . The term of this Agreement (the “Employment Term”) shall begin on the Effective Date and shall continue until

Employee’s employment hereunder is terminated in accordance with Section 5.
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Section 5. Termination; Severance Benefits .

 
5.1 Generally . Either the Board of Directors of the Company or Employee may terminate Employee’s employment hereunder, for any reason upon

sixty (60) days prior written notice to the other party. Upon termination of Employee’s employment hereunder for any reason, Employee shall be deemed
simultaneously to have resigned as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, if applicable, and from any other position or office he may at the
time hold with the Company or any of its affiliates. In addition, upon termination of Employee’s employment hereunder for any reason, the Company shall
(i) reimburse Employee for any expenses properly incurred under Section 3.3(b) and which have not previously been reimbursed as of the effective date of the
termination, (ii) pay Employee for any accrued, but unused, vacation time as of the effective date of the termination, and (iii) pay Employee for any accrued
and unpaid Base Salary through and including the effective date of termination (collectively, the “Accrued Compensation”). The Accrued Compensation will
be paid in a lump sum on the first regularly scheduled payroll date following the effective date of the termination of Employee’s employment with the
Company,

 
5.2  Voluntary Termination by Employee Other than due to Good Reason in Connection with a Change in Control Event. If Employee voluntarily

resigns from his employment, other than for Good Reason within 12 months after a Change in Control Event, Employee shall (i) receive no further Base
Salary or Bonus hereunder, other than the Accrued Compensation, and (ii) cease to be covered under or be permitted to participate in or receive any of the
benefits described in Section 3.3 hereof.

 
5.3 Termination by the Company .

 
(a)  Without Cause . If the Company terminates Employee’s employment hereunder without Cause (other than within 12 months after a

Change in Control Event), then subject to Sections 5.6 and 5.7(b) below, Employee will be entitled to receive, an amount equal to one times Employee’s then
current Base Salary, payable over 12 months, commencing upon the effective date of the termination of Employee’s employment with the Company, in
accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices then in effect for its senior management personnel (the “Severance Payment”), plus a payment of
a bonus equal to the target Bonus for the year in which such termination occurs pro-rated for the number of days actually worked in the year of termination,
payable within 2 ½ months following such termination. In addition, the vesting of stock options held by Employee immediately prior to such termination
(“Options”) shall accelerate such that the portion of those options that was otherwise scheduled to vest during the 12 month period immediately following
such termination (had Employee remained employed with the Company for that period) will become vested as of the date of such termination. Further, if
Employee elects COBRA continuation of his insured group health benefits, the Company will contribute an amount toward the monthly cost of such coverage
equal to the Company’s share of the monthly premiums (at the time of termination) for active employees for a period of 12 months (or, if less, for the duration
of such COBRA continuation).

 
(b)  For Cause . If the Company terminates Employee’s employment hereunder for Cause, Employee shall (i) receive no further Base Salary

or Bonus hereunder, other than Accrued Compensation, and (ii) cease to be covered under or be permitted to participate in or receive any of the benefits
described in Section 3.3 hereof.

 
5.4 Termination in Connection with a Change in Control Event . If (i) a condition occurs which constitutes Good Reason and after Employee has

complied with the applicable notice period and the Company has failed to remedy such condition, Employee actually resigns (all as described in detail in the
definition of “Good Reason” in Section 1) or (ii) the Company terminates Employee’s employment hereunder without Cause, in either case within 12 months
after the occurrence of a Change in Control Event, then in lieu of any other payments, rights or benefits under Section 5.3(a), Employee will be entitled to
receive an amount equal to one and one-half (1.5) times Employee’s then current Base Salary, payable over 12 months, commencing upon the effective date
of the termination of Employee’s employment with the Company, in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices for its senior management
personnel (the “Change in Control Severance Payment”), plus an amount equal to one (1) times the target Bonus for the year in which such resignation or
termination occurs (such amount being payable in a lump
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sum on such effective date of termination), payable within 2 ½ months following such termination or resignation. In addition, the Options and any restricted
stock grants held by Employee immediately prior to his termination shall vest in full. Further, if Employee elects COBRA continuation of his insured group
health benefits, the Company will waive the applicable premiums otherwise payable for such COBRA continuation for a period of 18 months (or, if less, for
the duration of such COBRA continuation).  All payments made under this section shall be subject to Sections 5.6 and 5.7(b) below.
 



5.5 Termination upon Death or Disability . Employee’s employment hereunder shall terminate upon death of Employee. The Company may
terminate Employee’s employment hereunder in the event Employee is disabled and such disability continues for more than 180 days. “Disability” shall be
defined as the inability of Employee to render the services required of him, with or without a reasonable accommodation, under this Amended Agreement as a
result of physical or mental incapacity. In the event of death or termination by the Company due to disability of Employee, if Employee elects COBRA
continuation of his insured group health benefits, the Company will contribute an amount toward the monthly cost of such coverage equal to the Company’s
share of the monthly premiums (at the time of termination) for active employees for a period of 12 months (or, if less, for the duration of such COBRA
continuation).

 
5.6 Release Required . As a condition precedent to the receipt of any right, payment or benefit under Sections 5.3(a) or 5.4, Employee must

execute and deliver to the Company a release, the form and substance of which are acceptable to the Company, and such release must become irrevocable,
within 60 days following the effective date of termination of Employee’s employment. Any such right, payment or benefit that would otherwise be paid
before such release becomes irrevocable will instead be delayed and paid to Employee in a lump sum within 15 days after such release becomes irrevocable
(and the remaining payments will be made as otherwise scheduled in the ordinary course). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the 60 day period immediately
following the effective date of termination of Employee’s employment overlaps two calendar years, then any such right, payment or benefit that would
otherwise be paid before the later of (i) the date such release becomes irrevocable, or (ii) the last day of the year in which such termination occurs (such later
date, the “Applicable Date”) will instead be delayed and paid to Employee in a lump sum on the first regularly scheduled payroll date following the
Applicable Date (and the remaining payments will be made as otherwise scheduled in the ordinary course). If the release has not become irrevocable within
60 days following the effective date of the termination of Employee’s employment, Employee will forfeit any right, payment or benefit otherwise due under
Section 5.3(a) or 5.4, as applicable.

 
5.7 Section 409A .

 
(a)  Purpose. This section is intended to help ensure that compensation paid or delivered to Employee pursuant to this Agreement either is

paid in compliance with, or is exempt from, Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder (collectively, “Section 409A”). However, the Company does not warrant to Employee that all compensation paid or delivered to him for his
services will be exempt from, or paid in compliance with, Section 409A.

 
(b)  Amounts Payable On Account of Termination. For the purposes of determining when amounts otherwise payable on account of

Employee’s termination of employment under this Amended Agreement will be paid, which amounts become due because of his termination of employment,
“termination of employment” or words of similar import, as used in this Amended Agreement, shall be construed as the date that Employee first incurs a
“separation from service” for purposes of Section 409A on or following termination of employment. Furthermore, if Employee is a “specified employee” of a
public company as determined pursuant to Section 409A as of his termination of employment, any amounts payable on account of his termination of
employment which constitute deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A and which are otherwise payable during the first six months
following Employee’s termination (or prior to his death after termination) shall be paid to Employee in a cash lump-sum on the earlier of (1) the date of his
death and (2) the first business day of the seventh calendar month immediately following the month in which his termination occurs.
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(c)  Series of Payments.  Any right to a series of installment payments shall be treated as a right to a series of separate payments.

 
(d)    Interpretative Rules. In applying Section 409A to amounts paid pursuant to this Agreement, any right to a series of installment payments

under this Agreement shall be treated as a right to a series of separate payments.
 

Section 6. Federal Excise Tax .
 
6.1 General Rule . Employee’s payments and benefits under this Agreement and all other arrangements or programs related thereto shall not, in the

aggregate, exceed the maximum amount that may be paid to Employee without triggering golden parachute penalties under Section 280G of the Code, and the
provisions related thereto with respect to such payments. If Employee’s benefits must be cut back to avoid triggering such penalties, such reduction shall be
made in the following order: (i) first, any future cash payments (if any) shall be reduced (if necessary, to zero); (ii) second, any current cash payments shall be
reduced (if necessary, to zero); (iii) third, all non-cash payments (other than equity or equity derivative related payments) shall be reduced (if necessary, to
zero); and (iv) fourth, all equity or equity derivative payments shall be reduced.  If an amount in excess of the limit set forth in this Section is paid to
Employee, Employee must repay the excess amount to the Company upon demand, with interest at the rate provided in Code Section 1274(b)(2)(B). 
Employee and the Company agree to cooperate with each other reasonably in connection with any administrative or judicial proceedings concerning the
existence or amount of golden parachute penalties on payments or benefits Employee receives.

 
6.2 Exception . Section 6.1 shall apply only if it increases the net amount Employee would realize from payments and benefits subject to

Section 6.1, after payment of income and excise taxes by Employee on such payments and benefits.
 

6.3 Determinations . The determination of whether the golden parachute penalties under Code Section 280G and the provisions related thereto shall
be made by counsel chosen by Employee and reasonably acceptable to the Company. All other determinations needed to apply this Section 6 shall be made in
good faith by the Company’s independent auditors.

 
Section 7. General .

 
7.1 Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement . Employee and the Company hereby ratify and re-affirm that certain Confidentiality and

Non-Competition Agreement dated March 3, 2014 (the “Confidentiality Agreement”).
 

7.2 No Conflict . Employee represents and warrants that he has not entered, nor will he enter, into any other agreements that restrict his ability to
fulfill his obligations under this Agreement and the Confidentiality Agreement.

 
7.3 Governing Law . This Agreement shall be construed, interpreted and governed by the laws of the State of New Jersey, without regard to the

conflicts of law rules thereof.
 



7.4 Binding Effect . This Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon Employee, his legal representatives, heirs and distributees and upon the
Company, its successors and assigns regardless of any change in the business structure of the Company.

 
7.5 Assignment . Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations hereunder shall be assigned or delegated by any party without the

prior written consent of the other party.
 

7.6 Entire Agreement . This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. No waiver,
modification or change of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by both parties. For avoidance of doubt, this Agreement
supersedes in all respects the Offer Letter, including but not limited to Section 3.4 thereof.
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7.7 Waiver . The waiver of any breach of any duty, term or condition of this Agreement shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of any preceding

or succeeding breach of the same or any other duty, term or condition of this Agreement.
 

7.8 Severability . If any provision of this Agreement shall be unenforceable in any jurisdiction in accordance with its terms, the provision shall be
enforceable to the fullest extent permitted in that jurisdiction and shall continue to be enforceable in accordance with its terms in any other jurisdiction and the
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not be affected thereby.

 
7.9 Conflicting Agreements . In the event of a conflict between this Agreement and any other agreement between Employee and the Company, the

terms and provisions of this Agreement shall control.
 

7.10 Resolution of Disputes . Any claim or controversy arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement, other than with respect to the Confidentiality
Agreement, between Employee and the Company (or any officer, director, employee or agent of the Company), or the breach thereof, shall be settled by
arbitration administrated by the American Arbitration Association under its National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes. Such arbitration shall
be held in New Jersey (or in such other location as the Company may at the time be headquartered). The arbitration shall be conducted before a three-member
panel. Within fifteen (15) days after the commencement of arbitration, each party shall select one person to act as arbitrator and the two selected shall select a
third arbitrator within ten (10) days of their appointment.

 
If the arbitrators selected by the parties are unable or fail to agree upon the third arbitrator, the third arbitrator shall be selected by the American

Arbitration Association and shall be a member of the bar of the State of New Jersey actively engaged in the practice of employment law for at least ten years.
The arbitration panel shall apply the substantive laws of the State of New Jersey in connection with the arbitration and the New Jersey Rules of Evidence
shall apply to all aspects of the arbitration. The award shall be made within thirty days of the closing of the hearing. Judgment upon the award rendered by the
arbitrators(s) may be entered by any Court having jurisdiction thereof.

 
7.11 Notices . All notices pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sent by prepaid certified mail, return receipt requested or by

recognized air courier service addressed as follows:
 

(i)                                               If to the Company to:
 
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
1 Cedar Brook Drive
Cranbury, New Jersey 08512

 
(ii)                                            If to Employee to:

 
Jay Barth
at the address in his personnel file
 

or to such other addresses as may hereinafter be specified by notice in writing by either of the parties, and shall be deemed given three (3) business days after
the date so mailed or sent.

 
7.12 Compliance . If reasonably requested in writing, Employee agrees within fifteen business days to provide the Company with an executed IRS

Form 4669 (Statement of Payments Received) with respect to any taxable amount paid to Employee by the Company.
 

7.13 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which shall together
constitute one and the same agreement.

 
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date first above written.

 
 

  /s/ JAY BARTH
 

JAY BARTH
  
 

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.
  
 

By:   /s/ JOHN F. CROWLEY
  

Name: John F. Crowley
  



Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 10.7
 

 
LETTER AGREEMENT

 
Julie Yu
Vice President, Clinical Operations and Data Management
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
1 Cedar Brook Drive
Cranbury, NJ 08512
 

Re:  Severance and Change in Control Agreements
 

Dear Julie:
 
On behalf of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., (the “Company”), this Letter Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2014, shall serve to confirm our agreement in the
event Amicus terminates your employment without “Cause” as defined below or in the event of a change in control, sale or merger of the Company.  By
accepting the terms of this Letter Agreement, you agree that the rights identified in this Letter Agreement contain the complete understanding between you
and the Company related to Severance and Change in Control payments and supersedes and replaces all previous agreements related to such payments.  The
January 22, 2012 Offer of Employment Letter countersigned by you, a copy of which is attached hereto, shall otherwise remain in full force and effect and is
hereby confirmed and ratified.
 
Severance Pay
 
In the event that your employment is terminated by the Company, except for Cause, you will be eligible to receive the following:
 

1.                                      six (6) months salary continuation to be paid in accordance with the Company’s payroll practices;
 
2.                                      an additional six (6) months of option vesting;
 
3.                                      in the event that your termination occurs after June 30th of the calendar year, you will be entitled to a payment of a bonus equal to

the bonus earned in the preceding year pro-rated for the number of months actually worked in the year of termination, payable on the
date of termination; and

 
4.                                      you will be entitled to a continuation of your health benefit coverage under COBRA, premiums to be paid by the Company, for a

period of twelve (12) months, which shall commence on the date of termination and run concurrently with the period of salary
continuation.

 
For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means termination for any of the following reasons: (1) willful or deliberate misconduct by you that materially
damages the Company; (2) misappropriation of Company assets; (3) conviction of, or a plea of guilty or “no contest” to, a felony; or (4) any willful
disobedience of the lawful and unambiguous instructions of the CEO of the Company; provided that the CEO has given you written notice of such
disobedience or neglect and you have failed to cure such disobedience or neglect within a period reasonable under the circumstances.
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Change in Control
 
If there is a Change in Control Event (as defined below) and either you resign with Good Reason (as defined below) or are terminated without Cause, in either
case within twelve months following such Change in Control Event, then you (1) will be entitled to receive 12 months of salary continuation, to be paid in
accordance with the Company’s payroll practices; (2) if such resignation or termination occurs between June 30 and December 31, you will be entitled to a
payment of a bonus equal to your bonus earned in the preceding year (if any) pro-rated for the number of months actually worked in the year of resignation or
termination, payable within 2 ½ months following such termination or resignation; (3) you will be entitled to waiver of the applicable premiums otherwise
payable for continuation of your health benefit coverage under COBRA for the 12 month period following such resignation or termination; and (4) all of your
otherwise unvested stock options will have their remaining vesting schedule accelerated so that all stock options are fully vested.
 
“Change in Control Event” means any of the following: (i) any person or entity (except for a current stockholder) becomes the beneficial owner of greater
than 50% of the then outstanding voting power of the Company; (ii) a merger or consolidation with another entity where the voting securities of the Company
outstanding immediately before the transaction constitute less than a majority of the voting power of the voting securities of the Company or the surviving
entity outstanding immediately after the transaction, or (iii) the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.  For the avoidance of
doubt, no event shall be deemed to be a Change in Control Event, unless such event would also be a Change in Control under Section 409A Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, “Section 409A”) or would otherwise be a permitted distribution
event under Section 409A.
 
“Good Reason” means (i) a material diminution in your authorities, duties, or responsibilities, or (ii) a material change in the geographic location at which
you must perform services; provided, however , that you must provide the Company with notice of the existence of the Good Reason condition within ninety
(90) days of its initial existence after which the Company will have a period of thirty (30) days within which it may remedy the condition and not be required
to pay the severance payment; and provided, further, that any Good Reason termination must occur within two (2) years of the initial existence of the Good
Reason condition.
 



Notwithstanding any other provision of this letter agreement, your right to receive severance payments and benefits pursuant to this letter agreement shall be
subject to the condition that you execute a full release and waiver of all claims against the Company and related parties in a form acceptable to the Company
and that such release be delivered to the Company and become irrevocable by a deadline specified by the Company (the “Release Deadline”), which deadline
will be no later than 60 days following the cessation of your employment.  Any payments and benefits that would otherwise be paid prior to the Release
Deadline will accrue and be paid on the Release Deadline, provided the release has by then become irrevocable, and any remaining payment and benefits will
thereafter be delivered as otherwise scheduled. However, if the Release Deadline is more than 30 days and your release becomes irrevocable before the
Release Deadline, the Company may elect to pay (or commence to pay) such severance payments and benefits up to 30 days prior to the Release Deadline.
 
It is the intention of the parties that compensation paid or delivered to you by the Company either is paid in compliance with, or is exempt from,
Section 409A and this letter agreement should be interpreted accordingly.  However, the Company does not warrant the tax treatment of any amount payable
to you.
 
For the purposes of determining when amounts otherwise payable on account of your termination of employment will be paid, which amounts become due
because of your termination of employment, “termination of employment” or words of similar import shall be construed as the date that you first incur a
“separation from service” for purposes of Section 409A on or following termination of employment.  Furthermore, if you are a “specified employee” of a
public company as determined pursuant to Section 409A as of your termination of employment, any amounts payable on account of your termination of
employment which constitute deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A and which are otherwise payable during the first six months
following your termination (or prior to your death after termination) shall be paid to you in a cash lump-sum on the earlier of (1) the date of your death and
(2) the first business day of the seventh calendar month immediately following the month in which your termination occurs.
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In applying Section 409A to amounts paid pursuant to this letter, any right to a series of installment payments shall be treated as a right to a series of separate
payments.
 
Employment “At-Will”
 
It is important that you understand that the Company does not guarantee employment for any specific period of time.  You will continue to be employed on at
“at-will” basis.  This means that both the Company and you will have the right to terminate your employment at any time, for any reason, with or without
prior notice or cause.  Neither you nor the Company will have an express or implied contract limiting your right to resign or the Company’s right to terminate
your employment at any time, for any reason, with or without prior notice or cause.  The “at-will” relationship will apply to you throughout your employment
and cannot be changed except by an express individual written employment agreement signed by you and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
 
It is understood and agreed that this Letter Agreement constitutes the full agreement between you and the Company on the subjects of Severance and Change
in Control payments.  By signing below, you agree that no other promises, express or implied, have been made to you either verbally or in writing and that no
further modifications to these terms and conditions will be effective except by a written agreement signed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
you and as authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors or an authorized Committee thereof.  This Letter Agreement may be executed in counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which shall together constitute on and the same agreement.
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
  
  
 

By: /s/ JOHN F. CROWLEY
  

John F. Crowley
  

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  
Accepted and Agreed:

 

  
  
By: /s/ JULIE YU

  

 

Julie Yu
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Exhibit 10.8
 

 
LETTER AGREEMENT

 
Daphne Quimi
Vice President, Finance and Controller
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
1 Cedar Brook Drive
Cranbury, NJ 08512
 

Re:  Severance and Change in Control Agreements
 

Dear Daphne:
 
On behalf of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., (the “Company”), this Letter Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2014, shall serve to confirm our agreement in the
event Amicus terminates your employment without “Cause” as defined below or in the event of a change in control, sale or merger of the Company.  By
accepting the terms of this Letter Agreement, you agree that the rights identified in this Letter Agreement contain the complete understanding between you
and the Company related to Severance and Change in Control payments and supersedes and replaces all previous agreements related to such payments.  The
August 3, 2007 Offer of Employment Letter countersigned by you, a copy of which is attached hereto, shall otherwise remain in full force and effect and is
hereby confirmed and ratified.
 
Severance Pay
 
In the event that your employment is terminated by the Company, except for Cause, you will be eligible to receive the following:
 

1.                                      six (6) months salary continuation to be paid in accordance with the Company’s payroll practices;
 
2.                                      an additional six (6) months of option vesting;
 
3.                                      in the event that your termination occurs after June 30th of the calendar year, you will be entitled to a payment of a bonus equal to

the bonus earned in the preceding year pro-rated for the number of months actually worked in the year of termination, payable on the
date of termination; and

 
4.                                      you will be entitled to a continuation of your health benefit coverage under COBRA, premiums to be paid by the Company, for a

period of twelve (12) months, which shall commence on the date of termination and run concurrently with the period of salary
continuation.

 
For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means termination for any of the following reasons: (1) willful or deliberate misconduct by you that materially
damages the Company; (2) misappropriation of Company assets; (3) conviction of, or a plea of guilty or “no contest” to, a felony; or (4) any willful
disobedience of the lawful and unambiguous instructions of the CEO of the Company; provided that the CEO has given you written notice of such
disobedience or neglect and you have failed to cure such disobedience or neglect within a period reasonable under the circumstances.
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Change in Control
 
If there is a Change in Control Event (as defined below) and either you resign with Good Reason (as defined below) or are terminated without Cause, in either
case within twelve months following such Change in Control Event, then you (1) will be entitled to receive 12 months of salary continuation, to be paid in
accordance with the Company’s payroll practices; (2) if such resignation or termination occurs between June 30 and December 31, you will be entitled to a
payment of a bonus equal to your bonus earned in the preceding year (if any) pro-rated for the number of months actually worked in the year of resignation or
termination, payable within 2 ½ months following such termination or resignation; (3) you will be entitled to waiver of the applicable premiums otherwise
payable for continuation of your health benefit coverage under COBRA for the 12 month period following such resignation or termination; and (4) all of your
otherwise unvested stock options will have their remaining vesting schedule accelerated so that all stock options are fully vested.
 
“Change in Control Event” means any of the following: (i) any person or entity (except for a current stockholder) becomes the beneficial owner of greater
than 50% of the then outstanding voting power of the Company; (ii) a merger or consolidation with another entity where the voting securities of the Company
outstanding immediately before the transaction constitute less than a majority of the voting power of the voting securities of the Company or the surviving
entity outstanding immediately after the transaction, or (iii) the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.  For the avoidance of
doubt, no event shall be deemed to be a Change in Control Event, unless such event would also be a Change in Control under Section 409A Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, “Section 409A”) or would otherwise be a permitted distribution
event under Section 409A.
 
“Good Reason” means (i) a material diminution in your authorities, duties, or responsibilities, or (ii) a material change in the geographic location at which
you must perform services; provided, however , that you must provide the Company with notice of the existence of the Good Reason condition within ninety
(90) days of its initial existence after which the Company will have a period of thirty (30) days within which it may remedy the condition and not be required
to pay the severance payment; and provided, further, that any Good Reason termination must occur within two (2) years of the initial existence of the Good
Reason condition.
 



Notwithstanding any other provision of this letter agreement, your right to receive severance payments and benefits pursuant to this letter agreement shall be
subject to the condition that you execute a full release and waiver of all claims against the Company and related parties in a form acceptable to the Company
and that such release be delivered to the Company and become irrevocable by a deadline specified by the Company (the “Release Deadline”), which deadline
will be no later than 60 days following the cessation of your employment.  Any payments and benefits that would otherwise be paid prior to the Release
Deadline will accrue and be paid on the Release Deadline, provided the release has by then become irrevocable, and any remaining payment and benefits will
thereafter be delivered as otherwise scheduled. However, if the Release Deadline is more than 30 days and your release becomes irrevocable before the
Release Deadline, the Company may elect to pay (or commence to pay) such severance payments and benefits up to 30 days prior to the Release Deadline.
 
It is the intention of the parties that compensation paid or delivered to you by the Company either is paid in compliance with, or is exempt from,
Section 409A and this letter agreement should be interpreted accordingly.  However, the Company does not warrant the tax treatment of any amount payable
to you.
 
For the purposes of determining when amounts otherwise payable on account of your termination of employment will be paid, which amounts become due
because of your termination of employment, “termination of employment” or words of similar import shall be construed as the date that you first incur a
“separation from service” for purposes of Section 409A on or following termination of employment.  Furthermore, if you are a “specified employee” of a
public company as determined pursuant to Section 409A as of your termination of employment, any amounts payable on account of your termination of
employment which constitute deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A and which are otherwise payable during the first six months
following your termination (or prior to your death after termination) shall be paid to you in a cash lump-sum on the earlier of (1) the date of your death and
(2) the first business day of the seventh calendar month immediately following the month in which your termination occurs.
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In applying Section 409A to amounts paid pursuant to this letter, any right to a series of installment payments shall be treated as a right to a series of separate
payments.
 
Employment “At-Will”
 
It is important that you understand that the Company does not guarantee employment for any specific period of time.  You will continue to be employed on at
“at-will” basis.  This means that both the Company and you will have the right to terminate your employment at any time, for any reason, with or without
prior notice or cause.  Neither you nor the Company will have an express or implied contract limiting your right to resign or the Company’s right to terminate
your employment at any time, for any reason, with or without prior notice or cause.  The “at-will” relationship will apply to you throughout your employment
and cannot be changed except by an express individual written employment agreement signed by you and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
 
It is understood and agreed that this Letter Agreement constitutes the full agreement between you and the Company on the subjects of Severance and Change
in Control payments.  By signing below, you agree that no other promises, express or implied, have been made to you either verbally or in writing and that no
further modifications to these terms and conditions will be effective except by a written agreement signed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
you and as authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors or an authorized Committee thereof.  This Letter Agreement may be executed in counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which shall together constitute on and the same agreement.
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
  
  
 

By: /s/ JOHN F. CROWLEY
  

John F. Crowley
  

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  
Accepted and Agreed:

 

  
  
By:   /s/ DAPHNE QUIMI

  

 

Daphne Quimi
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 

I, John F. Crowley, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

 
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 5, 2014 /s/ John F. Crowley
 

John F. Crowley
 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
 

I, William D. Baird III, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

 
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 5, 2014 /s/ William D. Baird III
 

William D. Baird III
 

Chief Financial Officer
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

in his capacity as an officer of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), that, to his knowledge, the Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for
the period ended March 31, 2014, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
78o(d)) and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company. This written statement is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to such Form 10-Q. A signed original of this
statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.
 
Date: May 5, 2014 By: /s/ John F. Crowley
  

John F. Crowley
  

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
   
Date: May 5, 2014 By: /s/ William D. Baird III
  

William D. Baird III
  

Chief Financial Officer
 


